THE BATTLE OF CADASTRAL INTELLIGENCE: MEASURING THE RESULTS OF COMPETITION BETWEEN PEOPLE AND MACHINE IN CREATION OF CADASTRAL BOUNDARIES

EMMANUEL NYANDWI February, 2018

SUPERVISORS: dr.M.N. Koeva dr.D. Kohli

THE BATTLE OF CADASTRAL INTELLIGENCE: MEASURING THE RESULTS OF COMPETITION BETWEEN PEOPLE AND MACHINE IN CREATION OF CADASTRAL BOUNDARIES

EMMANUEL NYANDWI Enschede, The Netherlands, February, 2018

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation. Specialization: Land Administration

SUPERVISORS: dr.M.N.Koeva dr.D.Kohli

THESIS ASSESSMENT BOARD: prof.dr.P.Y. Georgiadou(Chair)] prof.dr.ing.M.Gerke (External examiner, Technical University of Brunswick)

DISCLAIMER

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the Faculty.

ABSTRACT

Today, more than ever before, the world of technology is inclined towards the use of artificial intelligent systems for improved performance in service delivery. State of the art spatial-visual intelligent algorithms able to detect patterns from image are finding their applications in different fields and potentially in cadastral mapping. To test how these new smart agents could work in cadastral mapping, the current study measured and compared the performance of machine-based image analysis algorithms versus human operators in extracting cadastral boundaries from VHR image. Specifically, the study used OBIA rule-based expert systems within eCognition environment. In parallel, a team of five land professionals were tasked to hypothesise and manually digitise cadastral boundaries using the same image dataset used for automation. Both automation and manual digitisation used a WorldView-2 image that was pansharpened using Nearest Neighbour Diffusion-based algorithms that preserves spectral information while allowing for high visual interpretability. Two sites, one rural and the other urban within Kigali City in Rwanda were used. A rough cadastral map from automation and hypothesised and manually digitised boundaries were validated using surveyed data out in the field. To compare automated boundaries against manually digitised boundaries the study used quantitative geometric metrics to determine over-segmentation, under-segmentation, edge and shape errors from reference data. Arithmetically, the Number-of-Segments Ratio, completeness, correctness, false positive and false negative metrics were used to determine the overall performance of automation versus manual digitisation. Qualitatively, a focus group discussion was conducted to elicit experts perspectives on the legitimacy of machine-based image analysis algorithms for generating cadastral boundaries. The core themes of the discussion was automation and cost-effectiveness, ease of use and alignment with longstanding surveying values and surveyors vested interests.

In rural area, results indicate that machine was able to produce topologically and geometrically wellstructured parcels. Automation achieved a completeness rate of 45% versus 70.4% for human operators. In urban areas, automation results were counter-intuitive. It was so challenging for machine to extract fences and building footprints while it was really not a problem for human operator to digitise. From experts perspectives, automation could make the life of surveyors more easier while allowing them to deliver more services to landowners in short time with less cost. However, they suggested that the automation tool has to be learnable and simple to manipulate. The challenges raised by experts are that automation inaccuracies and inabilities of local people to validate automation results might cut back support from landowners. According to experts, it seems to be very challenging for automation to fit in current survey procedures that involve not only the landowners and surveyors but also local authorities and all neighbours. Thus for automation to work, some of the procedures will have to be suppressed. Experts suggested the use of locally acquired and accurate data. They further recommend a participatory mapping approach for validation of automation results after local people are trained to interpret and read spatial maps. Importantly, opinions from the focus group reflect both experts own views and experience and reality with image-based demarcation and fit for purpose approaches that have been implemented in Rwanda.

In conclusion, the study achieved its objective and attained automation performance is sufficient enough to reduce the cost incurred in field surveying by nearly a half. As for recommendation, in line with experts views, automation will require highly accurate data and skilled operators. For automation to be successful, a fully fledged involvement of spatially literate landowners and surveyors is needed.

Keywords: Automation; feature extraction; cadastral intelligence; visible boundaries; OBIA; geometric accuracy; technology legitimacy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank ITC Excellence Scholarship Programme team and the Government of Rwanda through Rwanda Land Management Authority for financially supporting my studies.

Special gratitude goes to my enthusiastic supervisors, exceptional instructors of good hand "*M.N.koeva*" and "*D.Kohli*". My Research journey has been a fantastic experience, and I thank you wholeheartedly, for tireless guidance and motivation.

I acknowledge the entire ITC community for kindness, internationalisation, advise and accommodation. Especially, I am thankful to Land Administration professors, lecturers and administration staff for their expertise and facilitation of all kind throughout my studies.

And most of all I am thankful to my dearly loved people;

For my lifelong wife "*Antoinette*" who unremittingly in faith and love took care of my son all alone, endured my absence and has been caring for me despite being far apart;

For, my first son "Shimmel", it took your angelic heart melt smile to break my silence and re-energise my brain and clear away rough times;

For "my mum", I know behind successful son is an "intelligent mum"; for your nugget of wisdom and instructions right all along my life, I became who I am and I've got to know what I know and what I will know. I am proud of myself and proud of you.

I love you all and I dedicate my success to you

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Intro	oduction	3	
	1.1.	General background	3	
	1.2.	Prior studies and research gap	4	
	1.3.	Aim of the study	6	
	1.4.	Research outline	6	
2.	Theoretical and conceptual framework			
	2.1.	Epistemology of automation	7	
	2.2.	Ontology of boundaries and cadastral intelligence	8	
	2.3.	Exhibiting cadastral intelligence by way of image analysis algorthms		
	2.4.	Performance of image analysis algorithm in cadastral mapping		
	2.5.	The Legitimacy of image-based cadastral intelligent algorithms		
	2.6.	Conceptual framework		
	2.7.	Summary		
3.	Met	hodology		
	3.1.	Research strategy		
	3.2.	Case study sites		
	3.3.	Imagery dataset		
	3.4.	Automation process		
	3.5.	Manual digitisation		
	3.6.	Framework for comparing automated against manually digitised boundaries		
4.	Resu	ılts		
	4.1.	Introduction		
	4.2.	Rural site		
	4.3.	Urban site		
	4.4.	Boundaries enhancing		
	4.5.	Geometric comparison of automated against manually digitised boundaries		
	4.6.	Summary of results		
5.	Auto	omation legitimacy Perspectives		
	5.1.	Introduction		
	5.2.	Acquaintance with automation tools and perceive user-friendliness		
	5.3.	Perceived usefulness of automation		
	5.4.	Perceived deficiencies of automation		
	5.5.	Automation and surveyors interests	40	
	5.6.	Experts recommendations	40	
6.	Disc	russion	42	
	6.1.	Automation process	42	
	6.2.	Human and machine cadastral intelligence compared based on geometric metrics	45	
	6.3.	Automation legitimacy perspectives	45	
	6.4.	Implications for practices	46	
7.	conclusion and recommendation			
	7.1.	Reflection to objectives and question	47	
	7.2.	Final remark reflecting		
	7.3.	Limitation of the study		
	7.4.	Recommendation		

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Conceptual framework for measuring cadastral intelligence exhibited by humans and machir	ne. 15
Figure 2: Research workflow	16
Figure 3: Illustration of pansharpening operation	17
Figure 4: Case research sites	18
Figure 5: Comparison of panchromatic, multispectral and pan-sharpened images	19
Figure 6: Applied automated boundaries extraction workflow	21
Figure 7: Geometric error	22
Figure 8: Model for assessing edge error between reference and automated boundaries lines	24
Figure 9: Interpretation and commonalities of box plot and violin plots. Hintze and Nelson (1998)	24
Figure 10: Implemented framework for computing geometric discrepancies	25
Figure 11: Description of rural parcels	27
Figure 12: Manually digitised rural parcel boundaries	28
Figure 13: Automatically extracted parcels boundaries	29
Figure 14: Appearance of urban cadastral features on image	30
Figure 15: Extracted building plots by experts and automation	31
Figure 16: Extracted buildings plots by manual digitisation and automation	32
Figure 17:Boundaries line enhancement	33
Figure 18: Shift of boundaries on image from the measured boundary lines on the ground	34
Figure 19: Geometric discrepancies between extracted parcels and reference parcels	35
Figure 20: Discrepancies between automated boundaries and manually digitised parcels	36
Figure 21: Visual comparison of automation and experts' performance	37
Figure 22: Land survey process as described by experts team	41
Figure 23: Two spectrally similar parcel but separable by ditches	43

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2: Operationalisation of concepts	. 15
Table 3: Global geometric error of parcel delineation between machine and humans	. 38

1. INTRODUCTION

Traditional approach uses mainly field survey and manual digitisation of remotely sensed images by humans to map cadastral boundaries. Alternatively, machine-based image analysis algorithms could be used to automatically extract visible cadastral boundaries from Very High Resolution [VHR] remotely sensed data. This chapter introduces research which compared the performance of human and machine in extracting cadastral boundaries from VHR satellite images.

1.1. General background

The cadastre is the foundation for land management and development in the long now (Donnelly, 2012; Williamson, 1985, 1997, 2000; Yomralioglu & Mclaughlin, 2017). An appropriate cadastral system is an essential part of the legal and institutional infrastructure that supports securing property rights and mobilising land capital, and without it, many of the "challenges of development" in a developing country will not be met (Williamson, 1997). Unfortunately, till today, only around 30% of land ownership units worldwide are covered with the formal cadastre (Bennett et al., 2017; Sophie Crommelinck et al., 2017; GLTN¹, 2015). The smaller coverage of cadastre is due mainly to procedural and costly traditional surveying approach. The latter suggests that all cadastral boundaries must be walked to be mapped (Rizos, 2017; Zevenbergen & Bennett, 2015) making it human intensive. Surveying is thus the most costly process when registering property (Rogers, C.Ballantyne, & B.Ballantyne, 2017); incurring 30-60% of the total cost of any land registration project (Burns, Grant, Nettle, Brits, & Dalrymple, 2007; Rogers et al., 2017). The consequence has been a growing aversion towards registering land. Many persons holding interests in land are not really looking for registration because the benefits of it would not compensate for the time and money they will have to invest (Zevenbergen, 2004).

With the advancement in remote sensing, it is now possible to acquire VHR data with which visible cadastral boundaries could be detected based on their patterns with regards to appearance and form (Crommelinck et al., 2016; Luo, Bennett, Koeva, & Lemmen, 2017). Satellites, in addition to manned airborne photography, can offer sub metre spatial resolution images since 1999s (Lennartz & Congalton, 2004; Salehi, Zhang, Zhong, & Dey, 2012). With Unmanned Aerial Vehicle [UAV], it now possible to acquire centimetre-level image resolution and point clouds data allowing to uncover features occluded by vegetation (Gao, Xu, Klinger, Van Der Woerd, & Tapponnier, 2017; Koeva, Muneza, Gevaert, Gerke, & Nex, 2016; Luo et al., 2017). The ability to acquire VHR remotely sensed data had given birth to image-based cadastral mapping. The latter has been experimented in Rwanda, Ethiopia and Namibia and proved effective in delivering fast-track land registration (Lemmen & Zevenbergen, 2014). However, despite the effectiveness of image-based parcel demarcation, the method is still human intensive. The non-trivial issue is then how to demarcate as many as possible land units based on VHR data while maintaining the accuracy and time requirements with minimum manual labour (García-Pedrero, Gonzalo-Martín, & Lillo-Saavedra, 2017). This question calls for resorting to automation.

Theoretically, it is believed that some of states of the art machine-based image analysis algorithms are as good as human perceptions for feature extraction (Blaschke et al., 2014; Xie & Tu, 2015) presenting the potential for automated cadastral boundaries extraction. Eventually, if succeeded, automation could eliminate substantial inconsistency errors resulting from the manual digitisation of imagery by draftspersons and could support in solving the issue of incomplete cadastre (Sahar, Muthukumar, & French, 2010). As put forward by Wassie, Koeva, Bennett & Lemmen (2017), automation could support cheap and up-to-date fit-

¹ Global Land Tool Network

for-purpose technologies targeting on existing societal needs, fast-track cadastral mapping to make land sector play its underlying role in ensuring sustainable development.

1.2. Prior studies and research gap

As mentioned in the general background, both cadastral surveying out in the field and manual digitisation of boundaries on VHR image are time and labour intensive. Specifically, manual digitisation is prone to inconsistency errors and it is impotent to handle remote sensing data covering huge area with minimum labour making it technologically less appealing. In response to that, the use of machine-based image analysis algorithms for automation of boundary delineation is gaining traction within geoinformation and land administration research arena (Luo, Bennett, Koeva & Quadros, 2016). This section summarises some of the previous studies and research gap.

1.2.1. Reviewed works

Among previous studies in field of automation of cadastral boundaries include the prominent work by Wassie et al. (2017);Crommelinck et al. (2017); Luo et al. (2017); García-Pedrero, Gonzalo-Martín & Lillo-Saavedra (2017); Suresh, Merugu, and Jain (2015); (Djenaliev, 2013)and Alkan and Marangoz (2009).

Wassie et al. (2017), applied mean shift based algorithms for automated delineation of parcels from WorldView-2 image. The study used buffer overlays to measure the accuracy of automated parcel boundaries to reference parcel boundaries. The study also used interviews method to land professionals to capture perceived achievement and deficiencies of automation tools. As claimed by authors, for three different sites, the automation was able to achieve 82.8%, 62.1% and 44.2% of completeness and 34.3%, 33% and 24.1% of correctness. This performance was obtained by applying a 2-metre buffer from reference lines. According to the same study, professionals perceived that if automation could extract up to 40-50% of all boundaries, it will significantly reduce the cost of land registration. Some of the major concerns with automation raised by professionals include invisible boundaries lines due to occlusion from high vegetation.

Crommelinck et al. (2017), tested the use of Simple Linear Iterative Clustering [SLIC] superpixels to extract visible boundaries from VHR UAV imagery. specifically, their study tested the ability of the SLIC tool to delineate roads and roof outlines. The study claims to have achieved promising results with a completeness rates of up to 64% using a buffer of 0.3m around reference data.

Luo et al. (2017), studied the extraction of cadastral boundaries from LIDAR data in urban and suburban areas using α -shape, canny edge and skeleton algorithms. During automation, clouds points were classified into planar object outlines like roads and buildings and then centerlines were fitted to fences to obtain building plot (parcel) boundaries. The study involved manual post-refinement where gaps among line segments were manually filled based on visual interpretation. Authors claim to have achieved promising results, with around 50% of parcel boundaries successfully extracted with a tolerance of 4m from references boundary lines.

García-Pedrero et al. (2017), investigated machine learning approach by way of combining superpixels and supervised classification for agricultural parcel delineation through agglomerative segmentation. The study applied to highly fragmented agrarian landscapes with high spatial heterogeneity produced by the diversity in sizes, shapes, and crops of the different agricultural parcels. The study used an extended version of SLIC algorithm to over-segment the image generating superpixels. A supervised classification was then used to determine superpixels to be merged. The obtained results showed to be nearly 90% accurate.

Suresh, Merugu and Jain (2015), studied the use of an edge detection technique and object-based classification to extract the land information automatically from satellite imagery. In their work, a modified directional Sobel edge detection was applied to improve the quality of segmentation results. The objects boundary was defined by merging edge detection results with the original image and applying the Multi-Resolution Segmentation [MRS] in eCognition. By using colour and shape information features like forest, river, roads, agriculture fields and buildings were extracted. An error matrix was used to evaluate the performance of the automation and the study claim to have attained 95% of accuracy for agriculture field.

Djenaliev (2013), examined object-based image analysis for building footprints delineation from WorldView-2 satellite imagery. The author used cany edge detectors to delineate contour lines of buildings from panchromatic image and then applied contrast split segmentation for separating detected lines fro the rest. The result of contrast split segmentation was exported to ArcGIS. Exported vectors together with manually digitised road lines were used as the thematic layer for multiresolution segmentation process. Different features could then be classified based on geometry and colour information. The classification achieved an overall accuracy of 80% using a confusion matrix.

Alkan and Marangoz (2009), studied the automatic object-based classification and manual approach for delineating buildings and parcels in built up and non-built-up contexts using the e-Cognition v4.0.6 software. In their research, the original image was first pan sharpened and segmented using MRS. Then the classification of segments into parcels and buildings was done by using different parameters available within e-cognition for features extractions. A confusion matrix was used to evaluate the performance of automation and on the screen manual digitisation based reference field dataset. In a built-up area, it was found that 10% versus 15% of the parcels and 85% versus 90% of buildings could be extracted by automation and manual digitisation respectively. In a rural area, up to 85% versus 90% of parcels, could be obtained by automation and manual digitisation respectively.

1.2.2. Research gap

From the reviewed works, with exception to the work of Crommelinck et al. (2017); Luo et al. (2017) and Wassie et al.(2017), performance a evaluation of machine performance used thematic accuracy with little attention on geometric properties of cadastral boundaries. There is lack of research evidence of how obtained cadastral boundaries fit well with existing cadastral geometric standards. Many of the researchers claimed to have achieved higher performance while non-geometric accuracy metric may not adequately inform on the number of parcels that were extracted wholes and geometrically and topologically correct. Thus, the current study, aimed at substantiating the prominence of machine intelligence exhibited by image analysis algorithms with both qualitative and quantitative indicators within a cadastral domain-specific application. The need to compare the performance of machine algorithms to the ground truth of cadastral expert emphasised on geometric properties and user perspectives on legitimacy of automation serve the primary motivation for the current study.

The other issue which evolved the passion for the current research derives from incomplete cadastre in Rwanda, as it for many other developing countries according to Sahar, Muthukumar & French (2010). Relevant property and topological information about building and physical utilities which is fundamental to planning and development are still missing in the Rwanda national cadastre (Ho, Biraro, Muvunyi & Wayumba, 2017 cited in Rohan Bennett et al., 2017). Thus, the researcher was passionate to test the possibility for automation to delineate buildings which could support completing the cadastral database.

1.3. Aim of the study

1.3.1. General objective

Setup and measure the results of competition between human operators and emerging machine-based approaches for creating and extracting cadastral boundaries from high-resolution satellite imagery.

1.3.2. Specific objectives

- 1.3.2.1. Identify and apply automated and manual approaches to extract visible cadastral boundaries.
- 1.3.2.2. To compare the performance of machine against human operators in creating cadastral boundaries based on geometric metrics.
- 1.3.2.3. To assess professionals' perceived legitimacy of artificial cadastral intelligence exhibited by machine-based image analysis algorithms

1.3.3. Research questions

Objective 1:

- 1.3.3.1. What are traditional approaches for image-based cadastral boundaries extraction?
- 1.3.3.2. What are image analysis algorithms for automatic cadastral boundaries extraction?
- 1.3.3.3. How to extract cadastral boundaries from imagery manually and automatically?

Objective 2:

1.3.3.4. How precise is machine algorithm in reproducing geometries and shapes of cadastral features?

1.3.3.5. What are precision and recall rates of machine algorithms in extracting cadastral boundaries?

Objective 3:

1.3.3.6. What are cadastral experts' perceptions towards machine-based approaches regarding their ease of use, cost-effectiveness, alignment with existing cadastral surveying procedures?

1.4. Research outline

Chapter 1. Introduction

General background. Prior studies and research gap. Aim of the study. Research outline

Chapter 2. Theoretical and Conceptual Framework:

Epistemology of automation. Ontology of boundaries and cadastral intelligence. Exhibiting cadastral intelligence by way of image analysis algorithms. Performance of image analysis algorithms in cadastral mapping. The legitimacy of image-based cadastral intelligent algorithms. Conceptual framework. Summary.

Chapter 3. Methodology

Research Strategy. Case study sites. Imagery dataset. Automated cadastral boundaries extraction. Set up cadastral expert team for manual cadastral boundaries extraction. Framework for comparing automated against manually digitised boundaries.

Chapter 4. Results

Introduction. Rural site. Urban site. Edge enhancing. Geometric comparison of automated against manually digitised boundaries. Summary of results

Chapter 5. Automation Legitimacy Perspectives

Introduction. Acquaintance with automation tool and perceived user-friendliness. Perceived deficiencies of automation. Automation and surveyors interests. Experts recommendation

Chapter 6. Discussion and Conclusion

Automation process. Machine versus Human performance. Legitimacy perspectives. Implication for practices. Limitation of the study

Chapter 7. Conclusion and recommendation

Reflection to objectives and questions. Final remark. Recommendation

2. THEORETICAL AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The previous chapter defines research problems and objectives to be addressed. This chapter goes on to discuss and interpret the study's underpinning theories. Specifically, the first section gives an epistemology of machine intelligence justifying and giving the rationality and necessity of machine-human integration. The second section provides an ontology of boundaries i.e. description of nature and characteristics of cadastral boundaries and their recognition. The third section offers approaches for exhibiting automated cadastral intelligence using image analysis algorithms. The fourth section goes on to discuss the performance theory to understand requirements, standards, direction and methods for assessing the accuracy of automated boundaries. The fifth section gives a conceptual framework that is built on an interpretation of underlying study theories to provide a schematic model that guided the empirical study. Finally, a summary of the main points is given in section six.

2.1. Epistemology of automation

Machine emulates human to perform specific jobs. This furtherance of machine intelligence has been a longstanding philosophical battle. In general, there are two major schools of thoughts of technology. In Franssen, Lokhorst, & van de Poel (2015); Swer (2014); Waelbers (2011) the two schools are labelled as "technological instrumentalism versus determinism". In Swer (2014); Winner, (1997) the two opposing views are described as "technology myopia or utopia versus dystopia" or "technological idealism versus materialism". In Sacasas (2015) the term "Humanist technology criticism is used to describe pessimistic viewpoints of technology while to the opposite in González (2005) the term "technology voluntarism" is used. There many opinions for utopia as well as for humanist technology thinkers. To get an insight of the debate, a few examples of prominent thinkings are cited in the next paragraphs.

For determinists, with the most proponents being Heidegger, Marcuse, Ellul and Karl Jasper, technology engulfs humanity due to automation and use of highly productive machinery that lead to the dismissal of labourers and loss of social value (Brey, 2003; Peter-Paul Verbeek, 2005). Technology thus holds a controlling power over society culturally, politically and ecologically (Franssen et al., 2015; Swer, 2014). Contrary, instrumentalists believe that technology is merely the concretisation of scientific thoughts in our daily life (Swer, 2014). For them, technology is just like a bare physical structure that serves human goals thus it is value-neutral and a controllable mean by people (Franssen et al., 2015). İnstrumentalists believe machine is a tool usable upon user's complete free will (George, 2017).

There are critical views of the technological prospect from both utopia and dystopia worth mentioning. One highlighted in literature came from Bernhard Irrgang philosophy. Bernhard Irrgang philosophy rejects both technological determinism and autonomy (George, 2017). According to Bernhard Irrgang, technical power arises from the management of everyday life. Therefore, it would not make sense to separate technology from human life since technology is embodied in human. Irrgang thoughts suggested that technology improves the old and advance new human capabilities and social organisation, the working and life conditions of human, increasing wealth and introduced new lifestyles. Emphasising Irrgang thoughts, Winner (1997) stated that whether taken in optimistic or pessimistic variants, modern technology had certain essential qualities, for instance, relentless search for efficiency, optimisation, efficiency, safety, and sustainability. While supporting technology optimism, Winner also criticises ironic voluntarism that denies humans being swept up by unstoppable technology-centred changes.

Another most influential thought in technology came from Lyotard (Balke, 2016), whose philosophy was neither framed in utopia nor dystopia (Roberts, 2013). Lyotard prophesied the exteriorisation of knowledge to enable the continual sharing of thoughts even after the demise of whom they are credited to. According to Balke, Lyotard's thought is being implemented by computerisation that creates a new performance, new potential for machine along human to create new emergent orders and socio-technical connections. As foreseen by Lyotard, since 1950s, with the emergence of artificial intelligence (Bush, 1945; McCarthy, Minsk, Rochester & Shannon, 1955; Smith, McGuire, Chris, Huang & Yang, 2006; Turing, 1950), humans discovered that computers could be instructed to learn to perform certain tasks without being explicitly programmed (David, Craig & Ragu, 2015). According to Winston (1993), the artificial intelligence has made people become more intelligent and force precision and can perform quantity task tirelessly.

In geoscience, automation has revolutionised geospatial intelligence by allowing to efficiently deal with huge image data covering wide area (Quackenbush, 2004; Schade, 2015). For instance, automatic image registration whereby machine establishes the correspondence between two images and determine a geometrical transformation that aligns the image pair is the substantial progress in remote sensing due to increasing volume of remote sensing images (Alkaabi & Deravi, 2005). For features extraction, automation is considered the holy grail of remote sensing that has been quested for a long time (O'Neil-Dunne, 2011). Today, some of the machine-based approaches are argued to outperform human operators to extract features from imagery (Blaschke et al., 2014). Practically, however, an optimised human capacities and artificial intelligence integration in which human ground truthing feeds into self-learning algorithms and vice versa is recommended (Schade, 2015). In this integration, humans are believed to be good at scanning large areas and recognising objects whereas computers are good at optimisation, detailed delineation, and repetition (Quackenbush, 2004) with minimum consistency errors.

In cadastral surveying field, throughout history technology has made it possible to move from barefoot to air-foot surveying, from archaic tools that require multiple operators in the field to robotic total station with a single operator (Bennett, 2016; Bennett, Asiama, Zevenbergen & Juliens, 2015). Today GNSS PPP² RTK³ services and UAV-Based survey, 3D laser scanner and LIDAR have improved the accuracy and speed at which surveying can be done (Windrose, 2017). As it was spelt in the introductory part, today, VHR images have made image-based surveying possible though there approach is still human intensive. A more compelling need for accelerated land registration call for resorting to machine intelligence exhibited by machine-based image analysis algorithms for automatic extraction of cadastral boundaries. Automation for delineating parcels, building and other cadastral features could contribute to fast track and cheap land surveying in the course of land registration. The appeal of just pushing a button and having all the features of interests such as boundaries identified on an image would be understandably appealing (O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman, 2017).

2.2. Ontology⁴ of boundaries and cadastral intelligence

Geometrically, a boundary is a set, a line of geographical features representing limits of an entity or metaphorically the transitional zone between an object and the rest of its domain of disclose (ISO 19107:2003). In real-world life, spatial problems connected with the notions of adjacency, separation and division can be dealt with intuitively by recognising two-sorted ontology of boundaries, bona fide (or physical) boundaries on the one hand, and fiat (arbitrary) boundaries on the other (B. Smith & Varzi, 1997, 2000). In the first case, there is spatial discontinuity such as holes, fissures, slits or qualitative heterogeneity

² Point Precision Positioning

³ Real-Time Kinematic

⁴ An ontology is an explicit specification of a conceptualisation (Stubkjær, 2001)

of material constitution or texture. In the latter case one may speak of a boundary even in the absence of any corresponding physical discontinuity or qualitative differentiation like property line or a country. Generally, a boundary is conceptual construction and a matter of the convention (Varzi, 2015). Due to that some anthropogenic entities in the geographic world are immaterial with no visible boundaries and others are self-defining and can be extracted visually (Radoux & Bogaert, 2017).

In cadastre domain, a boundary is either the "limit at law" of any estate or a "physical feature" designated to mark the limit at law (Dale 1976). FGDC (2008), defined cadastral boundary as the "geographic extent of ownership" while Donnelly, (2012) used the term the "extent of the legal limits of ownership" of any parcel of land. Zevenbergen & Bennett, (2015) provide a theoretical and practical extent of cadastral boundaries. Theoretically, a boundary surface divides one land parcel from another extent from the centre of the earth vertically upwards to the infinite in the sky. However, more practically, people simply use an imaginary line to mark the confines or line of division of two contiguous parcels. By the agency of man or naturally, visible boundaries are marked by physical features fences, hedges, roads, footpaths, trees, water drainages, building walls and pavement (Ali, Tuladhar & Zevenbergen, 2012; Mumbone, Bennet, Gerke & Volkmann, 2015; Rijsdijk et al., 2013). These features are intuitively recognisable by humans at first glance based on visual cues learnt over time and had been firmly ingrained in our brain.

Cadastral boundaries can be classified as fixed boundaries when they are precisely measured or general boundaries in case no precise spatial measurement is determined (Lemmens, 2011; Zevenbergen & Bennett, 2015). Depending on the use and purpose, either type of cadastral boundary may apply (Enemark, Bell, Lemmen, & McLaren, 2014). Cadastral boundaries can be measured using direct or indirect survey technique (Sophie Crommelinck et al., 2016). Normally, fixed boundaries are measured with higher accuracy by direct techniques in the field while indirect techniques apply to extractable general boundaries. However with VHR remotely sensed data, the indirect survey can also apply to delineate fixed boundaries (Crommelinck et al., 2016).

Indirect survey technique relies on remotely sensed data and visibility is a sine qua non of boundary extractability and for proceeding to any application. Cadastral boundaries features can be detected from remotely sensed data based on their specific properties like "being regular, linear-shaped or with limited curvature in their geometry, topology, size and spectral properties such as tones or colour or texture" (Sophie Crommelinck et al., 2016). Extracting these features can be done manually by human or machine operators both exhibiting cadastral intelligence.

To understand cadastral intelligence one could refer back to 1983 Howard Gardner's theory of multiple intelligences; the work of Linn & Petersen (1985); Campbell, Campbell, & Dickinson (1996); Castilla and Hay (2008) and Blaschke (2010). In multiple intelligence, spatial intelligence is defined as the ability to perceive the visual-spatial world (Goldstein & Naglieri, 2011). Linn & Petersen (1985), defined that ability as being able to perceive spatially, localise and visualise geographical objects. According to Campbell et al. (1996), the visual-spatial intelligence refers to a range of abilities including, to visually discriminate upon reasoning, to draw and to manipulate an image.

From an Artificial Intelligence [AI] perspective, geo-intelligence denotes the procedural and structural knowledge exhibited by a machine (Castilla and Hay, 2008). Procedural knowledge is concerned with specific computational functions and can be represented by a set of rules⁵. Structural knowledge is concerned with

⁵ Rule-based system or production system or expert system is the simplest form of artificial intelligence that encodes human expert's knowledge in a fairly narrow area into an automated system (Grosan & Abraham, 2011)

the relationship between image-objects and real-world geographical features. Therefore, geo-intelligence is concerned with "geospatial content in context" where features are detected based on rule sets and some level cues in association with neighbouring features (Hay and Blaschke, 2010). As put forward in Chen, Haya & St-Onge (2011); (Dold & Groopman, 2017) the advent of the artificial intelligence has reshaped geo intelligence into "automated geo-intelligence". As stated in Dold & Groopman (2017) today there exist a range of algorithmically trained perception-capable computing models capable of perceiving, recognising geographically referenced physical features.

In cadastral mapping, machine does also have the ability alongside human to acquire and apply spatial knowledge in detecting and extracting cadastral boundaries (Bennett, 2016; Bennett, Asiama, Zevenbergen, & Juliens, 2015). While human use brain machine applies artificial intelligence embedded in the algorithm to do the same job as humans do. As defined by McCarthy et al. (1955) artificial intelligence is the ability of machine to simulate functions of the human brain. In the framework of this research, we focused on cadastral intelligence applying on VHR data. Referring to Crommelinck et al. (2016); Xianghuan, Bennett, Koeva, & Nathan (2016); (Grosan & Abraham, 2011) the current study tested how far we can go with the artificial cadastral intelligence exhibited by machine-based image analysis algorithms. These algorithms encode and mimic human visual perception to extract cadastral boundaries from RS image. Such machine-based image analysis algorithms constitute artificial cadastral intelligence since they can do as human cadastral experts but they are not humans.

2.3. Exhibiting cadastral intelligence by way of image analysis algorithms

Crommelinck et al., (2016) group machine-based image analysis approaches applicable for automated cadastral boundaries extraction into two categories: i) Pixel-Based Approach [PBA] also referred to as datadriven approach ii) Object-Based Approach called model-driven. The latter is famously known as Object-Based Image Analysis [OBIA] or Geographic Object-Based Image analysis[GEOBIA] (Blaschke et al., 2014).

2.3.1. Pixel-based approach

Pixel-based approach only considers spectral value or one aspect for boundary class making it more easy and fast (Aryaguna & Danoedoro, 2016). When applied to Very High Resolution Remotely Sensed [VHRRS] data, the pixel-based approach results in salt and pepper map (Li & Shao, 2014). Therefore it falls short of expectations in topographic mapping applications due to the lack of an explicit object topology that might lead to inferior results than those of human vision (Hay at al., 2003). However, recently, the pixel-based approach is gaining much attention with the renaissance of Convolution Neural Network [CNN] (Sophie Crommelinck et al., 2016). For instance, holistically-nested edge detection algorithms are argued to approach the human ability (Xie & Tu, 2015) to identify boundaries from imagery. Some of the most recent publications (Audebert et al., 2016; Saito & Aoki, 2015) consider CNN-based segmentation algorithms stateof-the-art for predicting the shapes of the buildings and roads and hence could be potentially useful for cadastral mapping as well. However, these methods are rather not popular and suffer from being computationally intensive as they are challenging to train and requires programming skills.

2.3.2. OBIA approach

OBIA employs rule-based expert systems (O'Neil-Dunne, Pelletier, MacFaden, Troy & Grove, 2009) and is still the most popular and has been suitable for VHR image analysis in recent years (Blaschke et al., 2014; Lu & Weng, 2007). An in-depth perusal by Ma et al. (2017), of 173 publications proved the popularity of OBIA claimed by Blaschke et al. (2014) and Lu & Weng (2007), where the mean overall accuracy was found to be above 80%. In fact, by applying geo-intelligence with both procedural and structural knowledge OBIA

partitions an image into semantically meaningful spatial objects with results equalling or better than human perception(Blaschke, 2010; Blaschke et al., 2014). In fact, human use contextual information to identify features from image. This intelligence can be replicated in OBIA by building context through an iterative process in which the identity of some features is used to inform classification of others (O'Neil-Dunne, Macfaden & Pelletier, 2011). Thus, results from human and OBIA can be assumed to be comparable.

OBIA aims at automating feature extraction (Blaschke, 2010). However, it is important to note that its performance depends on the quality of low-level features as actually high-level features are extracted from low-level features (Babawuro & Beiji, 2012). While high-level objects are target features and end products, low-level features are extracted directly from the raw image of possibly noisy pixels by edge detectors (Babawuro & Beiji, 2012) or segmentation algorithms (Ma et al., 2017). In other words, OBIA involves segmentation and the classification of segments (low-level features) into meaningful objects (high-level features). Thus, getting segments representing meaningful objects is critical. Another thing to note is that while OBIA serves a tool for automation, it cannot operate on its own. Quackenbush (2004), asserts that automation with OBIA provides an efficient way to analyse VHRRS data over a larger area while still taking advantage of input from human operator. In other words, automation by no mean necessitates incorporating expert knowledge (Blaschke et al., 2014).

Unlike pixel-based approach, objects resulting from OBIA are polygons with explicit topology, meaning that they have geometric properties, such as shape and size (O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman, 2017). This makes OBIA suitable for extracting cadastral boundaries (Crommelinck et al., 2016; Radoux & Bogaert, 2017). OBIA appears highly promising than pixel-based approaches for automated cadastral boundaries extraction as it mimics the human interpretation process to detect geographic entities from an image (Kohli et al., 2017). The only problem remains that there is no transferable method between contexts owing to topographical peculiarities and diverse and complex social constructs that shape land holding size and shape and hence complex boundary morphologies across regions as noted Kohli et al.(2017).OBIA workflow (Blaschke et al., 2014), follow a stepwise process where segments are classified and enhanced iteratively based on procedural and structural knowledge.

2.3.2.1. Pre-processing

Pre-processing in concerned with preliminary operations that aim to enhance image interpretability and analysis. These include for instance subsetting, pansharpening and edge enhancement. Subsetting consists of eliminating extraneous data and constrain the image to a manageable area of interest. Pan-sharpening is an operation of fusing the high-resolution panchromatic image with a low-resolution multispectral image for enhanced visual interpretability and analysis. Another preprocessing operation is edge enhancing to ensure proper segmentation and easy detection of cadastral boundary lines.

While the first operation is straightforward by clicking specific buttons, the last two require user expertise. For pan sharpening, Pohl & Van Genderen (1998) suggested that the application very much drives the decision on which technique is the most suitable. For commercial multispectral satellite datasets, such as WorldView-2 and Geoeye-1 images with the use other than visual assessment, the Harris Geospatial Product Documentation Centre and Sun, Chen & Messinger (2014) propose the Nearest-Neighbour Diffusion [NND]. The latter enhances the salient spatial features while preserving spectral fidelity. Other techniques are suggested in Li, Jing & Tang (2017) such as the Haze and Ratio-based [HR], adaptive Gram-Schmidt, Generalized Laplacian Pyramids [GLP]. For edge detection, while Canny's edge detection algorithm is computationally more expensive compared to Sobel, Prewitt and Robert's operator, it performs better than all these operators under almost all scenarios (Maini & Aggarwal, 2009).

2.3.2.2. Segmentation and feature extraction

Segmentation uses visual cues such as brightness, colour, texture to sequentially partition an image (Shi & Malik, 2000). It is a method that was developed in the 1970s, to delineate or build readily usable objects from imagery (Blascke, 2010). Since then till now there are several segmentation algorithms. The most popular segmentation algorithm include Object Background [Threshold Model], Neural Model, Markov Random Field Model, Fuzzy Model, Fractal Model, Multi-Resolution and Transformation model [Watershed model and Wavelet model] (Dey, Zhang, & Zhong, 2010). Crommelinck et al. (2016) and O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman (2017) classified these techniques into (1) unsupervised approaches and (2) supervised methods. Supervised methods consist of machine learning and pattern recognition. Unsupervised approached apply parametric methods using colour, texture, spectral homogeneity, size, shape, compactness, and scale of image segments.

Of the listed methods, scholars such Baatz & Shape (2000); Belgiu & Drǎguţ (2014); Gupta & Bhadauria (2014); Saba, Valadanzouj & Mokhtarzade (2013) highlighted the pre-eminence of MRS in GEOBIA framework. MRS is suitable for shape analysis and allows coping with variability in sizes for different physical structures (Aksoy & Akçay, 2005). Different from the classic spectral analysis, MRS aggregate pixels starting with the one-pixel object and merge smaller image objects into increasingly larger ones in the subsequent segmentation steps thus constructing a semantic hierarchy, to find desired single objects of interest identifiable by colour or shape (Barrile & Bilotta, 2008).

As for automation of parcel extraction, since theoretically, a parcel is defined as a single land area under homogeneous real property rights and unique ownership (UN ECE 2004 and WG-CPI, 2006 cited in Kresse & Danko, 2012; Oosterom & Zlatanova, 2008) we assume that a parcel is also homogeneous in terms of land cover as in Hu, Yang, Li & Gong (2016). On the assumption that we have homogeneous land cover parcels, we can extract them using spectral information. For automation of buildings extraction, with their unambiguous ontological status (Belgiu & Drǎguţ, 2014), we assume they are easily detectable by remote sensing technique and hence extractable. However, in practice, it is important to note that features extraction require highly accurate data and skilled personnel (O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman, 2017). According to Zhiyong, Zhang & Benediktsson (2017), parameters tuning in segmentation is time-consuming and highly dependent on experience. These authors caution about unpleasant results that may arise from image data source. In their experimentation, O'Neil-Dunne and Schuckman (2017) have observed that even small change in tone and the direction of shadows that may have little to no effect on a human operator, can wreak havoc on automation.

2.3.2.3. Post processing

Post-processing operations aim at improving automation output by optimising shape, following properties of cadastral boundaries: linearity or limited curvature, connectedness and smoothness (Crommelinck, 2016). Post-processing employ algorithms such Ramer-Douglas-Peucker line simplifier or morphological operators to smooth the contour of generated cadastral lines. Further topology analysis may be performed to assess geometric relationship and connectedness of boundaries lines.

2.4. Performance of image analysis algorithm in cadastral mapping

Performance theory⁶ is most associated with the work of Turner (1988) and Schechner (1985). Turner and Schechner drew attention to how a code of performance governs events and rituals and daily human life. Performance is hence multidimensional and dynamic (Sonnentag & Frese, 2001) implying different

⁶ https://www.history.ac.uk/1807commemorated/about.html

meanings. In the framework of this study, a task-oriented definition of performance defined in Borman and Motowidlo (1993 cited in Borman & Motowidlo, 1997; Motowidlo & Van Scotter, 1994; Sonnentag & Frese, 2001), is underlined. According to Borman and Motowidlo (1997) performance is related to ability, more prescribed and constitutes in-role standards.

In practice, it might be difficult to describe the action aspect of performance without any reference to the outcome aspect (Sonnentag & Frese, 2001). In fact, not any output from a task is relevant. Thus, one needs criteria for evaluating the degree to which the performed task meets the prescribed code and acceptable standards. In remote sensing, evaluation of classification performance uses standard accuracy metrics, where the deviation by classified objects from the reference is due to the classification error (Lu & Weng, 2007).

For assessing the performance of machine and accuracy of automated features extraction, scholars like Persello & Bruzzone (2010); Crommelinck et al. (2016); Möller, Birger, Gidudu & Gläßer (2013); Gruen, Baltsavias & Henricsson (1997) and Radoux & Bogaert (2017) emphasise the need to consider the geometric quality of classified objects in addition to the thematic accuracy. Specifically, Radoux & Bogaert (2017) stressed that for spatial features delineation, the geometric precision is usually more important than the thematic accuracy. Therefore, for the focus of our study will be comparing machine and human performance to reference dataset based on geometric precision than the thematic accuracy.

In literature, quite many frameworks for geometric accuracy assessment are provided. Those which fall in line with this research include, among others (1) the novel protocol for accuracy assessment which included five geometrical indices elaborated by Persello & Bruzzone (2010). (2)The Polygons and Line Segments [PoLiS] metric for polygon comparison developed by Avbelj, Müller & Bamler (2015). (3)The framework for the geometric accuracy assessment of classified object elaborated by Möller et al. (2013). Of these methods, geometric indices elaborated in Persello & Bruzzone may be easily implemented in ArcGIS and have been applied in Belgiu & Drăguţ (2014) and elaborated further in (Liu et al., 2012).

Geometric accuracy assessment may also use some other planimetric measures like True Positives [TP], False Positives [FP], False Negatives [FN] and True Negatives [TN] described in Crommelinck et al. (2016) and Radoux & Bogaert (2017). The TP are features that are correctly detected by the method. The FP are incorrectly detected objects. The FN are features that are not detected by either human or machine but they exist. The TN are truly undetected features by one method but falsely detected by another method. False positives and false negatives, results from over-segmentation where the classifier predicts more than one image-segment for one spatial entity and under-segmentation where the classifier predicts more than one features encapsulated inside one image-segment. These two FP and FN inform the degree of omission and commission error by the classifier (Crommelinck et al., 2016; Persello & Bruzzone, 2010).

Two global metrics, completeness and correctness (Crommelinck et al., 2016), also referred to as precision and recall (Estrada & Jepson, 2009) are suggested to avoid biases of under-segmentation and oversegmentation. Correctness or precision measurement of the percentage of correctly extracted data, i.e. the proportion of the extraction which is in accordance with the reference data. Completeness or recall measures the percentage of the reference data which is explained by the extracted data, i.e. the proportion of boundaries in the reference dataset that was detected by automated extraction. Estrada & Jepson argue for two metrics being an attractive metric of segmentation quality because they are not biased in favour of overor under-segmentation.

2.5. The Legitimacy of image-based cadastral intelligent algorithms

Talking of machine performance in cadastral boundaries extraction from VHR images, its legitimacy becomes an important aspect as well. Ho (2017) argued that while land information is a technology-driven field, thinking that only cost-benefit efficiency determines a given technology adoption would be wrong, instead it is worth considering performance needs while also fitting with contemporary values.

The term legitimacy dates back to the dawn of organisation and social theory introduced by Weber (Deephouse & Suchman, 2008; Roth & Wittich, 1978). In 1995s, Suchman came up with the most widely accepted definition of legitimacy (Cruz-Suarez, Prado-Román & Prado-Román, 2014; Suddaby, Bitektine & Haack, 2015). Suchman defined legitimacy to be "the generalised perception or assumption that an entity's actions are desirable, proper or appropriate within some socially constructed system of norms, values, beliefs, and definitions". Since then, legitimacy is used in many directions to denote the conformity with both general social norms and formal laws (Deephouse & Suchman, 2008). In technology, legitimacy refers to the perceived alignment or misalignment of a focal technology with technical design rules, business models or consumer expectations as defined by institutional structures (Markard, Wirth & Truffer, 2016). As stated by Markard et al. (2016), technology is said to misalign if does not conform to the norms and to formal rules, laws and regulations performance criteria of established technology and the larger sociotechnical regime it is embedded in. Thus, for it to grow and thrive, a new technological venture need to be legitimised to mobilise resources or regulatory support (Payette, 2014).

Legitimacy is a matter of perspective and vested interests (Markard et al., 2016). As for implication, different stakeholders: professionals and citizens are likely to have different motivation towards new technology. For instance, it was noticed that professional codes are used to resist against innovative approaches in land administration fearing these changes may obstruct their interests and their values (Enemark et al., 2014). To measure the legitimacy of technology as perceived by different users fall into three dimensions: 1) cognitive, 2) normative or moral or regulatory 3) pragmatic (Johnson, Dowd & Ridgeway, 2006; Markard et al., 2016; Payette, 2014; Suchman, 1995). Cognitive is based on comprehensibility, the degree to which an entity is known, understood and taken for granted. Normative relates to professional accreditation regarding the level of conformity with established professional values and widely shared principles, formal rules, laws and regulations. Pragmatic rests on self-interested calculations.

For our study, assessment of the legitimacy of automation tool for extracting cadastral boundaries from remotely sensed data involved mainly land professionals. It was important for the study to assess how professionals perceive the usefulness of machine intelligence for automated cadastral boundaries extraction, how they understand it, observance to survey charter and legality of automated boundaries, the readiness of users to embrace the tool and the perceived ease of use. The latter, following Burns et al. (2007) was captured by perceptions of professional on time and cost it takes and complexity indicators for surveying a property.

2.6. Conceptual framework

In reflection to previous sections and the introductory part, a quantitative and qualitative framework for comparing machine abilities against draftsperson to perform boundaries extraction was developed. Three central assumptions were made. (i) a)Rural parcel boundaries are physically manifested through visually detectable features such as ditches, hedges made of traditional tree line, walkways. Parcels are homogeneous in terms of land use and hence spectrally homogeneous. b) Urban parcels can be delineated based on visible fences. Building are ontologically well distinguishable by their colour of roof materials. (ii) Using cadastral intelligence with contextual cues learned over time, professionals can hypothesise and digitise boundaries on image. (iii) Since boundaries are visible and hence detectable by remote sensors, machine with minimum

input of human knowledge can discern these boundaries features based on spectral and geometric information as people do. Both human and machine performance can be evaluated and compared based on predefined accuracy metrics and reference data. The perceived performance and deficiencies of machine will play a greater role towards its legitimacy. A conceptual diagram is presented here below:



Figure 1: Conceptual framework for measuring cadastral intelligence exhibited by humans and machine.

As for interpretation of Figure 1, cadastral intelligence can be exhibited using (human) spatial reasoning and expert knowledge or using machine algorithms. People are believed to have high ability to recognise boundary features than machine since boundaries are social constructions and hence more perceptible to human. But also, the machine is known for its relentless computational power and hence we need it for improved performance. Table 1 summarises operationalisation process.

Concept	Dimension	Variables	Indicators
Cadastral	1)Human	Geometry	Geometric indices allow quantifying the spatial quality of
intelligence	2)Technology	Correctness	extracted cadastral boundaries
		Completeness	Number of correctly extracted cadastral boundaries
		Omission	Number of reference features extracted
		commission	Number of omitted features from references features
Performance	Task-oriented		Number of commits features to reference features
Legitimacy	1)Regulatory	Perceptions of	Alignment to survey rules, standards; ease of use and
	2)Cognitive	experts	cost-effectiveness regarding time and money
	3)Pragmatic		

Table 1: Operationalisation of concepts

2.7. Summary

In this chapter, a thorough discourse of technology and machine intelligence was given. Essential points worthy of consideration emphasised that machine is unavoidable in our daily life. The reason was given being that machine intelligence results from exteriorisation of our brain functions allowing to share, optimise and immortalise the knowledge. The most point to note was the implication and innovation brought about by automation in remote sensing and ptentially to cadastral applications. This chapters went on to discuss possible approaches by which machine intelligence to automate boundaries extraction can be exhibited. Different evaluation methods to assess the performance of machine to the ground truth of experts were discussed. Apart from mathematical performance evaluation, the intriguing issue of legitimacy of automation tool based on user perspective with regard to norms and practices was discussed. Ultimately, from theories, a conceptual framework to compare quantitatively and qualitatively machine and human performance for extracting parcels and building shapes from image was laid down. The next chapter will elaborate a methodology that was used to operationalise the conceptual diagram.

3. METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes applied methods to operationalise the concepts to address the research problem and objectives. The chapter presents the general workflow (Figure 2), research strategy (section 3.1), case study sites (section 3.2), imagery dataset (section 3.3), implemented approach for automation (section 3.4) and manual boundaries extraction (section 3.5) and comparison framework (section 3.6).



Figure 2: Research workflow

3.1. Research strategy

The study applied a comparative approach using a case study. Referring to Bhattacherjee (2012); Miller & Brewer (2003), a case study was found useful and adapted for testing whether using machine-based features extraction algorithms could actually apply for automated cadastral boundaries extraction in the specific real-world setting.

3.2. Case study sites

Two sites, one representing urban setting and the other one rural setting within Kigali city in Rwanda were selected based on the availability of VHR satellite images, visual detectability of cadastral boundaries, and convenience of accessing reference datasets for comparison. The selection of testing sites followed a visual interpretation as pre-step to automation as suggested in Kohli, Bennett, Lemmen, Kwabena, & Zevenbergen (2017). After hovering over Kigali city and intuitively trying to quantity boundaries that are identifiable through visual interpretation, areas with maximum visual interpretability of cadastral boundaries were selected. The rural site is located in Nyamugali cell, Gatsata sector and the urban site is located in Gibagabaga cell, Kimironko sector within Gasabo districts. A map of the study sites is given below (Figure 4).

Rwanda is renown globally to be among the first countries where image-based demarcation was applied to build a nationwide cadastre system at a low cost. Since one of the objectives of the study is to gather experts and user perspectives, Rwanda would serve the best case study. Opinions from the focus group not only reflected experts' own views but also experience and reality with image-based demarcation and fit for purpose approaches.

3.3. Imagery dataset

The research used ortho-rectified, 2m-resolution multispectral and 0.5m-resolution panchromatic WorldView-2 satellite images. This imagery, according to DigitalGlobe (2010), has shown significant improvement in object-oriented classification and automation. The 0.5m-resolution panchromatic image offers a much higher spatial resolution with which features marking cadastral boundaries like ditches and fences are clearly visible. The 2m-resolution multispectral (RGBNIR) image provides high spectral resolution where features can be separated based on their colour. To take advantage of both high spatial resolution of the panchromatic image and high spectral resolution of the multiresolution image a fused image was produced. For this operation, the Nearest-Neighbour Diffusion (NNDiffuse) pansharpening algorithms available within the Environment for Visualising Images [ENVI] software was applied, owing to its advantages discussed in section 2.3.2.1. The resulting image i.e. pan-sharpened image provides higher spatial and spectral resolution (Figure 3).



High resolution Figure 3: Illustration of pansharpening operation

To avoid lengthy computation, the original image was subset to eliminate the extraneous data and constrain the image to a manageable area of interest, i.e., test sites. The rural site was restricted to an area of 280x560m and the urban site to an area of 320x400m. Then, subset images were fused as illustrated in Figure 3. The outputs of sharpening are presented in Figure 5.





The comparison of the pansharpened image and low-resolution image could reveal very significant difference as it can be observed in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Comparison of panchromatic, multispectral and pan-sharpened images

On the left of Figure 5, (a) and (d) are a black and white images on which features shape can be seen but really somewhat challenging to get land cover information on parcels or buildings. In the middle (b), (e), the coloured images look coarse. On the right (c) and (f) are other coloured images on which shape and colour of features are well displayed. Features such ditches, river, bare soil and vegetated parcels; red, black, blue roof and pavement are clearly discernible. With the first image, despite being a high spatial resolution image, it would be difficult for people and machine to delineated parcels or building by only considering the morphological pattern. Thus combining it with the coarse colour image in the middle provided an image(c), (f) that is both spectrally and spatially rich enough for the user to identify boundaries by combining both shape and spectral signatures of features.

3.4. Automation process

Automated boundaries extraction built on the description of visible boundaries elaborated in section 2.2 and assumptions made in section 2.6 and experts ground knowledge as indicated in Figure 6. In the rural site, visible ditches mark most of the parcel boundaries making them extractable. In urban site, buildings and plots are discernible by looking at shape and colour. Rule-based expert systems within eCognition were developed to allow the segmentation of the image and extract parcels and building shapes based on spectra, texture, geometry and contextual information. As discussed in section 2.3.2.2 getting an optimal segmentation where maximum number of segments match parcels or buildings is crucial and was primarily beseeched. Initially, the automated Estimate Scale Parameter [ESP2] tool (Drăguţ, Csillik, Eisank & Tiede, 2014) was tried. The appeal of this tool is that it supports for automated optimisation of scale parameter SP which is the key control in MultiResolution Segmentation [MRS] process. It produces fully automatically three scale levels, based on the concept of Local Variance on one push of the button that if succeeded would fit best the purpose of the study. But, mainly, the study used expert knowledge for parameterisation for boundaries are results of social constructs and more perceptible to human as it has been discussed in section 2.2. In fact, the selection of parameter like scale parameter in MRS is a more objective decision (Drăguţ et al., 2014) requiring more reasoning of the expert.

The semi-automated process involved different techniques such as chessboard and multiresolution segmentation. The chessboard segmentation with the size smaller than river in rural area and the size smaller than road in urban area were applied. Open Source Map (OSM) river and roads dataset were used as thematic layers in chessboard for rural and in urban areas respectively. In rural area, based on expert ground knowledge, the distance to vectors contextual information was used to remove river strips of 10-meter buffer along river shores. In urban, a 7-meter buffer from the central line of streets was applied to remove road strips from image objects. MRS was applied to the rest of the image to generate candidates objects classifiable into parcels or building. Unlike in ESP-2, manual scale parameterisation was a trial and error process and involved iterative tuning of scale and homogeneity. To enhance the detectability of parcel boundaries, the texture after Haralick derived from the Grey Level Co-occurrence Matrix (GLCM) which is known to be the best for localising texture boundaries (Al-Kadi, 2011) was used as a temporary image layer. The scale was used to control the size and homogeneity based on visual assessment. A single parcel was hypothetically considered homogeneous. It could be observed that a higher scale caused many parcels to merge and boundaries to disappear and hence results were considered heterogeneous. The homogeneity could be determined by balancing colour and shape (smoothness + compactness) weights. It could be observed that a high value for either shape or colour criterion operated at the cost of homogeneity of the objects i.e. as the value of the shape increased, the less the spectral information played a role in delineating parcels. Since ultimately, the colour is the primary information contained in image data (eCognition Developer, 2014), the value of compactness was always higher than the shape value. Mathematically parameter tuning considered that Colour=1-shape; Shape=smoothness+compactness; Compactness=(1- β compactness)*shape and Compactness= β compactness*shape.

Geometry information such as polygon area, compactness, asymmetry, density, elliptical fit and shape index was then used to classify candidates objects into parcels. But also, not all targeted parcels could be extracted whole and correct at one go but in a stepwise manner. The process required subsequent segmentation and classification of fitting objects into parcel until results were satisfactory i.e. visually most of the extracted parcels matches boundaries lines on image. As it was elaborated in the theoretical and conceptual framework part, cadastral boundaries have standard properties of linearity or limited curvature, and smoothness which is not the case for automated boundaries. In most case, automation result into jagged lines. To improve and smooth ragged boundaries morphological operator within eCognition were considered.



Figure 6: Applied automated boundaries extraction workflow

In (a) chessboard segmentation is used to incorporate contextual information from Open Source Map (OSM) layer. A 10 m buffer zone is applied to remove rivers trip from parcel candidates. In (b), subsequently, the image is segmented and segments classified with the elliptic fit, asymmetry shape index, rectangular fit and polygon area threshold values. In (c), boundaries are enhanced. By applying chessboard segmentation, tiny plots size resulting from over-segmentation are split into small parts to merge with neighbouring parcels using grow region rule set. In (d) after applying chessboard segmentation roads strip and garden were removed based on NDVI and Max.Diff. [(which refer to maxim difference between an image object and its neighbour image objects, regarding their mean layer intensity values, (eCognition reference book, 2014)] value. The rest of the image was segmented using MRS to generate individual buildings based on colour and shape. In (e), since fences appear dark, we tempted to extract them using contrast splits.

3.5. Manual digitisation

Apart from automated cadastral boundaries extraction; a group of five human operators were tasked to hypothesise and manually digitise cadastral boundaries using the same dataset as in automation. Since the team comprised many people, a precise description was required. The team was provided with extraction guide. The guide was developed with the aim to give a clear description of cadastral objects to be extracted, input dataset and set clear digitising rules. Before actual extraction exercise begun, users were instructed on smallest interpretation unit, appearance in the image, geometric type and attributes, aggregation rules and level of details.

As automation included the expert knowledge, for comparison purpose, it was thought to make sense to use cadastral experts for manual extraction of cadastral boundaries as well. According to Ayyub (2001), an expert is identified on the basis of professional qualifications, experience, and memberships of the recognised professional body. Such person has acquired extensive knowledge and expertise that allows to perceive systems, organise and interpret information (Perera, 2011). A domain or substantive expert is familiar with the subject at hand and is responsible for analysing the issue by automatic, abstract, intuitive, tacit, and reflexive reasoning. In the same vein, cadastral expertise was considered when selecting participants and only people with more than five years of work experience in cadastre or being a member of chartered surveyor professionals were selected.

3.6. Framework for comparing automated against manually digitised boundaries

3.6.1. Quantitative geometric accuracy metrics

Adapted from Persello & Bruzzone (2010) and Liu et al. (2012), to measure the precision of machine classifier in reproducing the correct geometry and the shapes of cadastral objects, Given:

- A reference map of n objects constituting a set $R = \{R1, R2, ..., R_n\}$; each object with assumedly exact shape, structure, and position
- Thematic map of extracted and topologically connected cadastral objects forming a set C = {C₁, C₂, ..., C_s};

The geometric error measure is computed by an intersection of each polygon R_i in the cadastral reference map and the corresponding segment in thematic map Ci;

For a pair (R_i, C_i) , the following scenarios can outline in the figure below:



Figure 7: Geometric error scenarios

In (i) the areas that fall outside the green zone are called over-segments, i.e. the areas omitted from the reference polygon. (ii) The area beyond the red line is under segment and committed to the reference. (iii) edge error where boundaries of extracted object mismatch boundaries of the reference object. (iv) Fragmentation error, where a classifier has split the object into several fragments. (v) the shape in green has deviated from the reference shape in red.

Geometric error measures Over-segmentation error $[OS_{err}]$, Under-segmentation error $[US_{err}]$, Edge Location $[ED_{err}]$, Fragmentation error or Number-of-Segments Ratio [NSR] and Shape error S_{err}] that evaluate the degree of mismatching between the reference cadastral object and the corresponding extracted cadastral object on the map can be computed as follow:

$$OS_{err}(R_i, C_i) = 1 - \frac{R_i \cap C_i}{R_i}$$
(1)

$$US_{err}(R_i, C_i) = 1 - \frac{C_i \cap R_i}{C_i}$$
(2)

$$NSR = \frac{abs(N_r - N_c)}{N_r}$$
(3)

Where, N_r is the number of polygons in reference dataset and N_c the number of corresponding segment

$$ED_{err}(R_i, C_i) = 1 - \frac{\epsilon(R_i) \cap (C_i)}{\epsilon C_i}$$
(4)

where $\varepsilon(R_i)$ denotes a tolerance introduced to extracts the set of edge area from a generic region R_i in the recognition of the object borders. Since in Rwanda most legal boundaries were manually digitized within 1-5m of the 'true' position (Koeva et al., 2017), $\varepsilon(R_i)$ can take value up to 5 metres.

$$SH_{err} = \|sf(R_i) - sf(C_i)\|$$
(5)

Where, a shape factor sf could be one of several geometry indices like asymmetry, border index, compactness, density, elliptic fit, main direction, radius of largest enclosed ellipse, rectangular fit, roundness, or shape index (eCognition Developer, 2014). The latter was used for ease of computation. It is calculated from the border length of the object divided by four times the square root of its area:

Shape index =
$$\frac{\text{Perimeter}}{4\sqrt{Area}}$$
 (6)

Knowing the geometrical error of individuals classified objects (Err_i) , a global geometric error (Err_n) for n classified objects can computed as:

$$Err_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (Err_i) \tag{7}$$

For all (1), (2), (4), (5) and (6) the optimum value is 0 and 1 as the worse performance. For (3), the zero indicates a preferred one-to-one relationship between reference polygon parcel or building and corresponding extracted parcels or buildings while a substantial value would show a dominant one-to-many relationship due to excessive fragmentation or omission.

The above formula (1), (2), (4) and (5) were applied for one to one relationship where desirably one parcel in the reference is explained by one parcel in the extracted data set. In other cases of one to many or many to one correspondence omission error and commission error referred to as false negatives and false positive were applied. (i) The False Positives (FP) are instances, in the context of the study parcels or buildings, which were erroneously included by either machine or human experts; (ii) the False Negatives (FN) are parcels or buildings that are not detected by either human or machine but they exist in the reference dataset.

FN (Ommitted) + TP (Detetcted) = Reference;	(8)
FP (Committed) + TP (Correctly Detected) = Extracted	(9)
FN results from many to one reference-extracted relationship and FP results from one to many	
relationships	

From there, the two global accuracy metrics, namely correctness and completeness rates and were computed a follow:

Correctness
$$= \frac{\text{Extracted} \cap \text{Reference}}{\text{Extracted}} * 100$$
 (10)

$$Completeness = \frac{Reference \cap Extracted}{Reference} * 100$$
(11)

The formulas were implemented in ArcGIS and required mastery of GIS overlay and proximity analysis. (1), (2) were performed first by splitting by attributes both extracted and reference to generate individual parcels. Then we applied batch intersect for each parcel in the reference with each corresponding parcel in the extracted data set and then merge intersects to have one attribute table containing area of intersection of all parcels. (3) was implemented by counting the number of references and extracted parcels to get the value of Nr and Nc and then use them into the formula. (4) was implemented with model (Figure 8). (6) was implemented using calculate field in attributes tables. The overall framework is given in Figure 10.



Figure 8: Model for assessing edge error between reference and automated boundaries lines

For visualisation, violin and box plots were used. Specifically, the violin plot, according to (Burkhart, 2015; Statgraphics, 2018) it is a useful tool for summarising and comparing samples of quantitative data by combining box-and-whisker plots with nonparametric density estimators. The commonalities and interpretation of box plot and violin plot are elaborated in Hintze and Nelson (1998) as in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Interpretation and commonalities of box plot and violin plots. Hintze and Nelson (1998)

As it could be seen in the above figure, violin plot can show the full distribution of data behaviour for all instances and the pattern of responses for machine and human can be compared.

3.6.2. Reference [validation] dataset

According to Mckeown et al. (2000), an important aspect of the development of systems for automated cartographic feature extraction is the rigorous evaluation of their performance in the sense that it has to base on precisely defined characteristics. In implementing Mckeown et al's suggestions, reference dataset to which the performance of machine and human cadastral intelligence were evaluated was obtained using state of the art Zeno mapping software embedded in a lightweight survey tablet with instant access to GNSS⁷ RTK⁸ CORS⁹ corrections via GSM¹⁰ built-in modem allowing gather centimetre accuracy data.



Figure 10: Implemented framework for computing geometric discrepancies

⁷ Global Navigation Satellite System

⁸ Realtime Kinematic

⁹ Continuously Operating Reference Station. Rwanda has 8 stations, each one with a coverage radius of 30km ¹⁰ Global System for Mobile [originally Groupe Speciale Mobile. <u>https://www.lifewire.com/definition-of-gsm-578670</u>

3.6.3. Qualitative evaluation: legitimacy perspectives on automation

To assess the legitimacy of machine-based cadastral intelligence, as perceived by human cadastral experts, a focus group discussion was used. Normally, Bhattacharjee (2012) proposes a group comprising six to ten people with a moderator to discuss a theme of interests for about a period of 1.5 to 2 hours. But, for this study, a mini focus group of four was rather preferred. According to Anderson & Arsenault (2005), a mini focus group of four to six people having long and substantial experiences can be used when the topic needs to be explored in greater depth.

Accordingly, an expert sampling was applied where referring to Bhattacherjee (2012) respondents are chosen in a non-random manner based on their expertise on the phenomenon being studied leading to glean more credible data than a sample that includes both experts and non-experts. Experts were selected based on expected their strong linkage with the cadastre. The team comprises three cadastral maintenance officers with more than five years of work experience with the national cadastre and one charted surveyor and the moderator and an assistant. The team discussed automation and the expert's acquaintance, the readiness of experts to use automation tool, learnability of automation tools, adherence to standards practices in land demarcation, perceived gain and loss to surveyors in favour of automation and what could be the role of surveyor automation process.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Introduction

The primary objective of the study was to set up and compare automated against manually digitised cadastral boundaries. Manual digitisation, using human cadastral intelligence, was performed by five experts. Automation, using machine-based image analysis, used OBIA which applies rule-based experts systems in eCognition. Reference and validation dataset to which the machine and human experts'performance was evaluated was obtained using high precision surveying tool in the field based on the general boundary from the national cadastre. Quantitatively, the performance valuation used geometric metrics to measure discrepancies between automated, manually digitised and reference boundaries. In next sections, parcels and building outlines obtained from manual digitisation and automation and field collection and comparison results are presented. Specifically, results from rural site are presented in section 4.2; results from urban in section 4.3; boundaries enhancement in section 4.4; results of the comparison of machine and manual digitisation in section 4.5 and finally section 4.6 gives a summary of results.

4.2. Rural site

Rural site is made of tiny, highly fragmented but well-structured plots regarding their shapes and arrangement (Figure 11). The size ranges from 90 to 1375sqm. Ditches and river strip delimit most of the parcels. Grasses cover some parcels other are bare land.



Figure 11: Description of rural parcels

4.2.1. Manually digitised cadastral boundaries by expert team

As it was introduced in the previous section, one of the tasks required to address objective (one) is to apply human intelligence to hypothesise and manually digitise cadastral boundaries from VHR image. The human cadastral intelligence comprises human brain ability to identify parcel and other landed property limits based on ingrained cues learnt over time. From (a) to (e), the Figure 12 below presents manually digitised rural parcels by five cadastral experts. On the same Figure, (f) shows boundaries extracted from the national cadastre and that have been digitised based on orthorectified aerial imagery of 2008.



Figure 12: Manually digitised rural parcel boundaries

What stands out from Figure 12 is that manual digitisation resulted in slight inconsistencies among users. Not all parcels could be extracted equally the same despite having the extraction provided to cadastre experts. Significant discrepancies can be observed in (c) and along the river shore for all the experts.
4.2.2. Automated parcels and validation

The second task under objective one was to apply rule-based intelligence in OBIA to extract cadastral boundaries automatically from image over the same area used by the expert team. Getting to have desired boundaries meeting all cadastral properties at one go was really a difficult process. In reality, parcels that appeared and purportedly imagined to be straightforward to identify with human eyes were tricky for machine to delineate. More difficulties were experienced when trying fully automated approach.

As it can be observed in Figure 13 (a), fully automated approach using Estimate Scale Parameter (ESP-2) tool for segmentation resulted into ragged and highly inaccurate segments. However, remarkable improvements were noticed after slight modification of scale parameters [Figure 13. (b)]. Much better results were obtained by using tailored experts rule sets (c). This semi-automated technique described in Figure 6 involved integration of experts ground knowledge and the trial and error tuning of parameters until image segments best approximate reference parcels boundaries (in yellow) as it can be seen in Figure 13 (c).



Figure 13: Automatically extracted parcels boundaries

(a) presents ESP-2 results when the shape factor is set 0.1 and 0.5 compactness. (b) shows results of ESP-2 after the shape criterion is modified and increased to 0.5 and the compact set to 0.8. The (c) presents the results of supervised segmentation layered with reference dataset (in yellow) obtained from field measurement. Reference data set permissible range of precision and hence it was collected using precision survey tablet running Zeno field mapping software with access to GNSS RTK COR instant corrections. Presented results were surveyed with less than 10-centimetre accuracy. Surveying a reference parcel for each of the parcels extracted would require the presence of respective owners in the field which was found practically impossible. Thus manually digitised and legal boundaries from the national cadastre was used. Existing cadastral data could not serve reference due to low accuracy ranging from 1-5m but it could help in acquiring high precision boundaries with only the presence of few landowners where it was needed.

4.3. Urban site

The urban site comprises well-structured and planned urban houses. Plots are well delineated and visually distinguishable on image by fences. Even where fences were occluded or do not exist, plots could still be hypothesised and delineated following the plan.



Buildings shadows spectrally appearing like fences

Ancillary buildings difficulty to delineated separately from main buildings

Depending on colour and shape of the roof some buildings might be hard to extract Subdivision has followed regular pattern and plot are well aligned

No fence, but the plot can be delineated following the alignment with others

Pavement spectrally somewhat impossible to separate with buildings

Roads and buildings reflecting nearly the same and spectrally difficulty to distinguish

Consistent building shape for a block but not necessarily for the entire area

Figure 14: Appearance of building roof and fences on image

4.3.1. Extracting buildings plots

From (i) to (v), the Figure 15, presents reference parcels (in red) overlayed with manually extracted urban plots (in yellow). Automation results are presented in (vi). As it can be clearly spotted, automation resulted in poorly structured parcel boundaries than manually digitised parcels. Another point from observation is that experts were more consistent and precise.





4.3.2. Extraction of buildings

Apart from delineated rural parcels and building plot, the author was passionate to test the ability of machine in extracting building outlines with correct shapes comparative to manual digitisation as it could help for completing the cadastre database where buildings are still missing. Presented in Figure 16 are results from experts team [from (a) to (e)] and automation (f). As it can be noticed, machine face difficulties to trim pavements and tiny structures from the main buildings. Blue and black roofed building was omitted as they spectrally appear like vegetation.



Figure 16: Extracted buildings plots by manual digitisation and automation

Automation results were obtained using chessboard segmentation to split an image into equal smaller objects of 0.5x0.5m and buffer of 7m from the central line of roads to eliminate road strip. Afterward NDVI and Max.Diff. information was used to removed vegetation and non-roof objects.

4.4. Boundaries enhancing

Resulting boundaries from segmentation and classification may present some unpleasant shapes that do not fit with cadastral boundaries standards like the one highlighted (in red). Ditches (dark strips) needs also to merge with main parcel polygons. Morphology operator within eCognition was used to do the job. The process is illustrated in Figure 17.





In (a), parcels present some dangling areas. Also ditches strips need to merge main parcels polygons. in (b) to smooth the border of parcels the pixel-based binary morphology operation is used to trim dangling portion off the main parcels. In so doing, an opening operation is chosen. An Opening is defined as the area of an image object that can completely contain the mask. The area of an image object that cannot contain the mask completely is trimmed off the objects. Morphology setting is done based instructions from eCognition reference manual. In (c), ditches and separate parts from the main parcels are split using chessboard segmentation. For better and smooth results, the object size is set to the smaller size possible, in our case to 1. In (d), split segments are set to merge neighbouring parcels and parcels boundaries are improved.

4.5. Geometric comparison of automated against manually digitised boundaries

Comparison of machine performance vers human operators constitutes the core aim of the study. A comparison was worth considering only for rural site where results were meaningful as presented earlier. The comparison was performed by layering automated with manually digitised and field surveyed parcels. Geometric discrepancies between each reference parcel and the corresponding extracted parcel (automated or manually digitised) were computed as described in Figure 10. Mainly batch intersection, buffer and clip, calculate field and model tools in ArcGIS were used. These tools allowed to get geometric attributes that were inserted in formulas elaborated in section 3.6.1 to compute over-segmentation, under-segmentation, edge and shape errors.

To find out the tolerance distance that should be used for assessing the discrepancy between reference boundaries lines and extracted boundaries lines, the base image was overlaid with reference surveyed data. The shift of boundary lines, ditches on image from surveyed lines, could be measured using measuring tool in ArcGIS. It was found that there was a shift of 0 to 4.5 meters of boundaries on image from the actual boundaries position as measured on the ground. This range is nearly the same with the current error range of 0-5m in the national cadastre database. For that matter, a buffer 5m would still be acceptable as many shifts will not be due to inaccurate detection but rather some error will be inherent in the source image.



Figure 18: Shift of boundaries on image from the measured boundary lines on the ground

In Figure 19, violin graphs show the full distribution of discrepancies between reference parcels and automated and manually digitised parcels. The graphs allow seeing variation in the distribution patterns and skewness within the dataset. The white dot marks the median. The single most striking observation to emerge from the comparison is the likeness in the distribution of shape error for the machine and human meaning that automation was able to delineate parcels in good shape as human experts. As it can be seen by comparing Machine-to-Reference versus Expert A-to-Reference graphs, for shape error the machine at some point could beat humans. However, it is difficult to conclude whether it is due to inaccurate perception or just a blundering mistake on the side of human operator. The results of comparison allow seeing that under segmentation error for expert C was far big than machine and somewhat the same for machine and experts B, and expert D.



Figure 19: Geometric discrepancies between extracted parcels and reference parcels

The comparison of machine intelligence to expert knowledge was also done by comparing automated parcels with hypothesised and manually digitised parcels. Unlike in the previous comparison, the analysis of automated parcels against hypothesised parcels by experts doesn't necessarily consider the correctness of detection. The focus is the ability to detect visible boundaries features. As it can be observed in Figure 20, the pattern of distribution of discrepancies corroborated with Figure 19 with respects to shapes of extracted parcels.



Figure 20: Discrepancies between automated boundaries and manually digitised parcels

The above figures, on the whole, demonstrate that the deviation of automated parcel shapes from manually digitised parcel shapes were too small. It can also be noticed that nearly all extracted parcels have less than 20% of their areas committed or omitted from automated parcels polygon areas as read the over-segmentation and under-segmentation boxes.

Visually, parcels, where both human and machine had difficulties and where discrepancies were spotted, are zoomed in allowing seeing how each of the operators behaved. In Figure 21, (a) are automated parcels layered with reference parcels and from (b) to (f) the same area but with experts work overlayed with reference parcels. Interesting patterns to note is that for both machine and experts were facing similar difficulties with invisible boundaries.



Figure 21: Visual comparison of automation and experts' performance

The results in Figure 19 and Figure 20, allowed to compute a global error that will lead to having an overall performance. The table below shows the mean over-segmentation, under-segmentation, shape and edge errors. The table also includes other metrics like the number of segmentation ratio (NSR), FP (committed parcels) and FN (omitted parcels) and the correctness rate and completeness.

To compute the correctness and completeness, we can combine all the metrics. Since an optimum error value is 0, a parcel that is correctly delineated will have all OSerr, USerr, SHerr and EDerr equals 0. This is the ideal case and rare to have. Simply, we can define an error tolerance range within which extracted parcels are maintained as acceptable. The advantage of using all metrics is to make sure all aspects were considered. For ease of computation this study will consider only the edge metric. The reason is that the shape error is relative too small and under-segmentation and over-segmentation errors are by default edge errors. Only the difference is that edge error is computed including a distance tolerance from the reference boundary line. By using formulas (10), (11), we computed the completeness and correctness rates. For numerators of the equations we sort and count all EDerr rows with value 0.0 in the tables of comparison (see appendices).

_	Machine	Expert A	Expert B	Expert C	Expert D	Expert E
OS.err	0.15	0.12	0.13	0.11	0.11	0.12
US.err	0.17	0.14	0.13	0.20	0.15	0.15
SH.err	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.02
ED.err (buffer=4m)	0.07	0.02	0.06	0.03	0.03	0.02
NSR	0.063	0.049	0.069	0.108	0.020	0.059
FP	14.74%	12.5%	9.57%	12.22%	12.12%	13.68
FN	14.85%	15.84%	16.83	25.74%	13.86%	19.80%
Correctness	47.4%	76%	67%	77.8%	77.8%	72.6%
Completeness	45%	73%	63%	70%	77%	69%

Table 2: Global geometric error of parcel delineation between machine and humans

Number of parcels:

Reference=100; Automated=95; expert A=96; expert B=94; Expert C=90; expert D=99 and Expert E=95

As it can be apparently spotted, from Table 4, the FN rate (omission error) is significantly high for expert A, expert B, expert C and expert E compared to machine. Contrary, geometrically humans operators were more precise than machine as read the OS.err, US.err, ED.err values. The error of commission for automation was also high than for human operators.

4.6. Summary of results

This chapter presented the results of manual digitisation and automation of parcels boundaries and building footprints. Ultimately it presented geometric discrepancies resulting from a comparison of (1) extracted parcel polygons with reference parcels and (2) automated parcels polygon with manually digitised parcels polygons. An interesting general aspect of results is that machine could extract parcels in good shape as human operators. The omission error of automation is relatively low when compared to human operators. Results indicate that human operators were geometrically a little bit more precise than machine algorithms when drawing and reproducing parcel geometries from images. In conclusion the performance of machine is auspicious. The issue remains to know how this automation approach will be accepted and incorporated in current survey framework. Therefore, the next chapter will present experts (as proponent users) views on legitimacy of the automation tool we have tested.

5. AUTOMATION LEGITIMACY PERSPECTIVES

5.1. Introduction

The previous chapter demonstrated the capability of machine against human in extracting parcel boundaries. However, making automation a legitimate tool goes beyond its ability to extract physical line from image. As it was explained in Chapter-2, a boundary has a two-sorted ontology: (1) arbitrary (socially constructed/immaterial) versus (2) real (physical) nature and understandably more perceptible to humans than machine. It is then important to assess how the ability of machine to detect physical lines from image will fit in cadastral survey values. In that context, this chapter offers opinions reflecting experts views on automation. The text summary is a result of transcription of a group discussion after the short movie on automation process within OBIA environment using Trimble eCognition software. The transcripts were analysed in Atlas-ti. The leading themes of the discussion were acquaintance of experts with automation and perceived user-friendliness of automation tools, perceived benefits and deficiencies and impacts of automation to community and land surveying practitioners.

5.2. Acquaintance with automation tools and perceive user-friendliness

The majority of participants stated that it was for the first time to hear about automation in cadastral mapping. Some of the experts know its application in other domain, but its use in the cadastre was far to believe. Others asserted to have thought about it, due to a heavy workload in their daily activities but practically, it was very surprising to hear that what they thought is now possible.

When asked if they feel ready to adopt and use cadastral automation mapping, some of them replied that they do not feel like having that skills since it would require them specialised training. They advanced that operator of automation will need to have additional knowledge in photogrammetry and photo interpretations. Other were too optimistic towards the automation tool. From demonstration, they perceived the tool learnable. The only problem they said would be developing such a tool from scratch which would require advanced programming skills.

5.3. Perceived usefulness of automation

Regarding the benefits of automation, a common view amongst experts was that automation would make life of land professional easier. "A programmer would understand it better": said one of the participants. Among the benefit of automation as perceived by experts will be to enable land administration service provider to serves many people in short time. Experts think automation tools will help in registering land very quickly and reduce time landowners spend on waiting for land documents. For them automation will help to get boundaries without undertaking long procedure.

5.4. Perceived deficiencies of automation

Concerns surfaced regarding limitations and possible weaknesses of automation. Participants on the whole, pointed out the issue of invisible and haphazard boundaries limiting the applicability of machine-based image analysis algorithm for extracting boundaries. They perceive automation may only apply in areas where subdivision plans were implemented, in row plantation farms and in planned urban settlement. The issue of difference in morphology according to contexts like rural versus urban was raised. Concerns were expressed about inaccurate results that could be challenging and costly to maintain. Problems linked with social constructs which are hard to be mapped were advanced. An example was given for visible features like ditches and hedges which do not necessarily correspond to boundaries and where boundaries are marked

differently by different landowners. The participants were critically concerned about the trust and acceptability of automated boundaries by landowners. Participant believes that due to automation inaccuracies relations between land professional and landowners will be loosened.

Talking of trust and acceptability, experts were referring to existing survey procedures. Usually, a deed plan serve a triggering document based on which change in the registry are made. To be accepted a deed plan has to bear the signatures of landowners and neighbours and the seal of the district and chartered surveyors. This requires landowners to undergo through a process that involves the owner him/herself, neighbours, local authorities, district land officer, surveyors and Land Information System [LIS] staff in charge of cadastre (Figure 22). According to experts, the sealed and signed deed plan by officials, landowners and neighbours not only it confirm boundaries extent but also it confirms the ownership information. Linked to that, experts recurrently raised the issue relates to validation. From expert's point of views, it very challenging to validate and link automated boundaries with ownership information. For them asking lay people to identify their parcels and confirm whether they were correctly delineated or not it is nearly not feasible. Owing to that, experts think, validation and corrections may incur the cost almost equalling to the cost of field surveying and will be more a burden to landowners.

5.5. Automation and surveyors interests

Participants were asked to describe surveyor and his role in land administration. Experts described surveyor as a trusted person by landowners and land governance institutions whose product (sealed deed plan and survey report) serves a triggering document in land transaction process. According to participants surveying is a hot cake as currently, a chartered private surveyor can earn a monthly payee that is twice higher than a central government land officer. When questioned about how they perceive automation will impact on surveyors interests, two divergent discourses emerged. Some, the optimists of machine performance, feel that automation will take over the work of surveyors during maintenance. For the first group, exchanging field survey for automation will work at surveyors' disadvantage. This subgroup argues that automation will reduce labour and benefit the government, however at the cost of land surveyors. For them if the government accept automation it will have to be acquiring images on its own and not acquired from other commercial image could be called into question as they are not purpose driven. The second subgroup argued that, the undermined trust of automaties and giving more work to them.

5.6. Experts recommendations

Experts provided different suggestions for automation to be applicable. First there a need to have a commonly agreed way of marking visible boundaries for landowners. Also for it to work, will require change in the land administration workflow and legal backing. They will need to be complementarity between machine and surveyors. According to views of experts, surveyors will mainly be involved in images acquisition and maintenance. Before it could be introduced, experts require the government to have well-trained staffs.



Figure 22: Land survey process as described by experts team

Survey process begin with landowners who need to get the deed plan (plat of land survey). Landowners need a deed plan for different uses but mainly to complete the file when applying for land transaction. The landowners will contact a surveyor, in most case the private surveyor. The surveyor must have authorisation to survey issued by Land Management Authority upon applying for it and have followed surveying courses. The surveyors will carry a field work to delineate the land. In the field, the presence of neighbours (owners of the land next to the parcel to be surveyed) is mandatory. After demarcation the surveyor prepares a field survey report to be signed by landowners and neighbours, surveyors and later by local authorities. Afterward the surveyor will prepare a deed plan and seal it. Upon payment the landowner will pick the deed plan and survey report and deposit it with stamp duty fee and other application documents to the district land office. After checking all procedures and requirements the district land officer approves the deed plan and forward the application to LAIS cadastral office. The latter, will check if the field was undertaken using archived Receiver Independent Exchange (RINEX) file from CORS. After the deed is inspected and found correct the transaction is effected in LAIS and the process ends here or otherwise the deed plan is rejected and surveyor will have to resume fieldwork.

6. DISCUSSION

In this chapter, results are discussed, compared and contrasted with previous findings. Key points reflecting users, i.e. experts' views towards making automated feature extraction a legitimate tool for extracting cadastral parcels are elucidated further. In the end, the significance of findings and implication for practices and contribution to the cadastral field of knowledge is highlighted. Specifically, Section 6.1 discusses the automation process. Section 6.2 discusses results of comparison of automated and manual work using geometric metrics. Section 6.3 discusses experts perspectives on acceptability and applicability of automation tools. Section 6.2 discusses the implications for practices as it derives from findings.

6.1. Automation process

The findings of this research suggest that fully automated approach such as the Estimate Scale Parameter-2 (ESP-2) in extracting cadastral boundaries may pose many challenges considering a number of factors. As it was presented earlier on the Figure 13 the ESP-2 tool may result in ragged parcels boundaries which will be improved only after modification of size and scale parameters. Also, it could be observed that obtained results with the modified Estimate Scale Parameter tool are not topologically well structured requiring for manual post-processing editing.

The study findings suggest that using semi-automated approach with own-developed rule set based on experts ground knowledge may generate more improved results since it is more adapted to context than the ESP-2 tool. By improved results here, we mean topologically and geometrically well-structured parcel boundaries vectors that don't require manual post-processing editing. In the current study, own-developed rule set combined chessboard segmentation and subsequent multiresolution segmentation and classification and morphology operation. An important observation from our experimentation is that chessboard allows extraction of features in association with existing thematic layer from the open street map and could also be another publicly accessible repository to be able to extract other features. For instance, knowing the set back distance, user can extract features within a defined distance from specific roads or river. In our study, the tool was used to remove rivers trip and road strips from image objects but it could also be used for removing any other linear features. By way of multiresolution segmentation, user can get features and approximate segments to boundaries lines which are classified with geometry indexes threshold values. Since it is not possible to have all parcels with same morphological conditions, to adapt to variation in size and shape, a subsequent segmentation and classification method is rather used. To be ready to use, segments classified as parcels may need to be to geometrically and topologically improved as it can be seen in Figure 17. This is where morphology operators find their applications. The final results are ready to use and can be exported to ArcGIS as vector file.

Consistent with Zhang & Benediktsson, (2017); O'Neil-Dunne and Schuckman (2017), the study findings allow assuming that boundaries extraction is not a straightforward operation but tricky. Thus, it can be argued that automation may not be worth considering for a small area where manual digitisation takes relatively short time than setting up automation process. As it is generally required for features extraction (Blaschke et al., 2014; Quackenbush, 2004), our experimentation indicate the need for automation of cadastral boundaries extraction process to integrate contextual information with machine algorithms. Beyond the requirement to have a thorough understanding of the data, it was found that the extraction of cadastral boundaries, requires in addition, knowing the social contexts that shape landholding structures. During automation, the user will have to integrate this knowledge within the rule sets. For that matter, fully automated approach could not be fruitful compared with the own developed rule set systems, since it limits

user intervention and the integration of expert ground knowledge. In the study by Belgiu & Drǎguţ (2014) where both fully automated and supervised approach generated similar results, the reason could be that they focus was on delineating buildings with unambiguous ontological status. In our study, parcel and exhibited significant spectral variation.

From our experimentation with automation, two critical factors that should be considered before proceeding to boundaries extraction are discussed: 1) the separability of parcels as social objects 2) spectral reflectance of parcel.

6.1.1. Separability of parcels as social constructions

Normally neighbouring features made of different materials would have distinct spectral signatures based on which they can be delineated separately. In cadastre, as outlined in the theoretical framework, cadastral features are separated by lines. On the ground, these lines are marked by features like ditches, hedges or stones or otherwise they are invisible. It is important to recall the two-sorted ontology of boundary which suggests that some boundaries are real other immaterial in nature. The implication of this is that some of the boundaries may not be visually detectable in nature and some other visually detectable may not correspond with cadastral boundaries. Features marking boundaries might be inconsistently placed unless there are standards that have been established. In other words, having ditches marking a boundary for one landowner doesn't mean it is so for the neighbour. Another implication of the social nature of boundaries is their morphology. Land holdings structures like size and fragmentation affect boundaries detectability.

For the current study, it was fortunate, for rural area but not in urban area, to have parcels boundaries in most cases marked by visible ditches. Ditches were extractable by machine as separate elongated narrow strips as in Figure 23(a) or otherwise it would be difficult if not impossible to separate two parcels with same texture. In eCognition such elongated features like ditches are characterised by very low elliptic fit values and or being very highly asymmetric. The isolation of ditches from main parcels facilitate separating parcels from their neighbours. Normally we were interested in demarcating parcel not the ditches. For that, isolated ditches could be split using chessboard segmentation [Figure 23 (b)] and set to merge with parcels using grow region rule set as Figure 23 (c).



Figure 23: Two spectrally similar parcel but separable by ditches

In (a), ditches are extracted based on spectral information. in (b) chessboard segmentation rule set is used to slice the ditches strip into small equal grids. In (c) a grow region algorithm is used to merge ditches with neighbouring parcels

The effect of landholding structures parcels's layout, size and fragmentation on detectability of boundaries was apparent. It was observed that having a regular pattern in way parcel are arranged to ease the automation. Fragmented parcels under one ownership were sources of omission and commission errors. As experienced, when classifying segments with geometry threshold values like rectangular fit, shape index, border index, elliptic fit, compactness over-segmentation error is likely. To avoid it requires using a parcel area threshold

value to remove small parcels. But also, screening small polygons to prevent over-segmentation may lead to under-segmentation. As it was noted, challenges linked with fragmentation were not constrained to machine but also teased the experts. it was observed that some of the hypothesised boundaries by experts could not necessarily match references parcels. Some fragmented parcels were found to be under one homogeneous ownership. This means that the physical line is not enough to define a boundary. It could be observed that likely and possibly one human expert would not produce same parcels nor uniformly digitise the same boundaries for repeated times.

6.1.2. Spectral reflectance of the parcels

In addition to peculiarities in marking property boundaries, there comes the issue of spectral reflectance of parcels and building roofs which complicate automation approach. We recall the assumptions of homogeneity of parcels and building land cover (section 2.6). Since a parcel is defined as portion of land under homogeneous ownership (UN ECE, 2004; WG-CPI, 2006 cited in Kresse & Danko, 2012; Oosterom & Zlatanova, 2008), we assumed the parcel would be homogeneous in function of land use (Hu et al., 2016). Eventually, we hoped to see homogeneous parcels in terms of land cover on image. We also believed that the assumption of unambiguous ontology status of buildings would hold water the same as in Belgiu & Drăguţ (2014). However, on the ground, according to our findings, the homogeneity of ownership is rarely reflected by land cover. Further, appearance of boundaries features as perceived by human eyes differs from spectral reflectances information usable to machine. It is so while, as it was elaborated in the methodology part section 3.4, colour is the primary information contained in image with which objects and eventually parcels, fences, roofs can be extracted. To understand how difficult it was challenging for machine to extract individual parcels and buildings we reflect back to observations made by O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman (2017) where experiments revealed that very little change in spectral reflectance values lead to unstructured results from automation.

In rural areas, some plots were covered by grass other were bare soil and another one partly bare and vegetated (Figure 11) but relatively not too complex. Parcels could be separated based on ditches that were extractable as discussed in the previous section. Major challenges were encountered in urban area owing to higher heterogeneity and diversity with respect to form, size, layout, and material constitution of urban structures. For instance, one roof could have different spectral reflectances, making it very difficult for automation of building extraction using spectral information. Building were covered by hip and valley roof and depending on the position of the sun, some part of the roof will not be well exposed to the sun (Figure 14). Apart from heterogeneous reflectance of dark roof, the fences, building shadows and garden had almost the same spectral signatures making it challenging to extract fences as plot boundaries automatically.

Generally, from our experiments it can be assumed that the extraction of buildings and urban plot boundaries based on roof material and fences spectral information is challenging. If one looks at image, buildings and fences are very clear to identify with eyes and we can also see goods results from digitisation by experts. For any type and geometry of roof, fences was really not a problem for human operator to digitise (Figure 15; Figure 16). But, experience with automation was counter-intuitive confirming O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman (2017) observations. Urban plot fences extraction stands a big challenge for automation since it is very rare to see a fence with similar texture along its entire length. In most case, fences are very thin objects, and their material composition varies but extractable by integrating height with spectral information, according to Xianghuan et al. (2016). Especially UAV data which are known for their high resolution will find their application in here.

6.2. Human and machine cadastral intelligence compared based on geometric metrics

The comparison of automated with manually digitised and reference rural parcel polygons evidence that automation could generate topologically and geometrically well-structured parcels as human operators. At a glance, as indicated by the EDerr and SHerr plots in Figure 19, the patterns of distribution of discrepancies measures indicate comparable responses of machine and human experts in drawing geometries of parcel from images. Automation was able to achieve 45% of completeness and 47.5% of correctness. Discrepancies observed between automated parcel polygons and reference parcel polygons could be linked in part to inaccurate detections of machine. But, in other part shifts in edge are also linked with problems inherent in the source image (Figure 18).

Obtained automation performance rate is in the range of reported accuracy rates of 24-65% in some of reviewed studies (Crommelinck et al. (2017); Luo et al., 2017; Wassie et al., 2017). On the contrary, the current automation performance is lower to the one reported in Alkan & Marangoz(2009); Djenaliev (2013); García-Pedrero et al. (2017) and Suresh et al. (2015). In these studies, automation performance is claimed to be beyond 80 and up to 95% the reason being probably different methods of accuracy assessment. Contrary to our study, these studies used thematic accuracy while generally geometric accuracy is imperative for featured delineation as stated in Radoux & Bogaert (2017). Different from previous studies, with exception to the study of Luo et al.(2017); this study focused on automation of whole-parcel extraction. The study strongly took note of Mckeown et al. (2000) recommendations for assessing performance with rigour. Cadastral mapping application actually requires the performance assessment to be rigorous with geometry aspects. The accuracy is based on quantitative indicators and not on operator's judgments when a particular parcel is correctly delineated nor on thematic accuracy. Here the importance would not be to consider only higher automation rates but also more emphasis on providing information that fit with acceptable cadastral standards. According to Kohli et al.(2017) and Wassie, Koeva, Bennett & Lemmen (2017), even with automation performance 30-50% will significantly reduce the cost incurred in land demarcation. Therefore, it can be concluded that, the current study achieved promising results.

6.3. Automation legitimacy perspectives

Experts perceptions suggest that machine-based image analysis could be a potential smart agent in land demarcation that could allow millions of unregistered land to be registered but with its own cost with respect to skills required for users, accuracy, trust by the landowners and validation process. The study elicited user views for automation to be accepted as legitimate tool for cadastral boundaries extraction. Key point emerging from experts views is that machine-based image analysis could be one intelligent cadastral operator that could allow fast demarcation, registration and issuance of titles in short time and with little cost. However for it to work successfully, views of experts emphasised the need to have highly-trained experts and acceptable quality data stressing the suggestions in O'Neil-Dunne & Schuckman (2017). Another important point to note from experts views is the learnability aspect of the tool. The automation tool requiring advanced programming skills might not work best. The reason automation tool has to be learnable to land professionals is that it is eventually their responsibility and duties to institutionalise new tools that intend to ensure cadastre respond to society's need. Another possible explanation for this might be that extra skills beyond cadastral knowledge of land professionals will incur more costs to pay for external experts which would make automation not flexible nor a pro-poor tool.

Considering views of land professionals, imagery data will have to be taken considering intended purpose. Data will have to allow extracting boundaries as accurate as possible. An implication of this is the necessity to acquired data during cloud-free season and during the time boundaries lines are not covered by grasses or when parcels can be separated based on vegetation covers otherwise many boundaries will invisible. Apparently this is an ideal condition that is far to be met.

Another most intriguing question emerging from experts views is the legality and trust, validation process of automated boundaries. As it can be seen in Figure 22 survey goes beyond taking physical lines. In the context of study area context, the main importance of field survey is to correct evidence about who owns which land and who else can testify it. This stands a big challenge for automation. Only the issue of validation can be tackled using participatory mapping approach. Automation could be very useful in areas with no reliable cadastral maps- so even if 50% of the boundaries are mapped correctly, they can be used as a base. This also requires a spatially literate community. Landowners will have to e able to interpret automation results during validation process. Other aspects like issue of trust is not straight to answer and required further study to analyse land owners perceptions which is beyond the scope of this study. We recall that Rwanda is renown globally to be among the first countries where image-based demarcation was applied to build a nationwide cadastre system at a low cost. Many of the participants fully participated in the whole process. Therefore, opinions from the focus group reflect both experts' own views and experience and reality with image-based demarcation and fit for purpose approaches.

6.4. Implications for practices

The study aimed at providing research evidence on the ability of machine-based image analysis algorithms to extract ready to use cadastral boundaries from VHR image. As part of our work we made a critical review on previous studies. Reviewed studies can be grouped into two categories. The first category of reviewed studies (Alkan & Marangoz, 2009; Djenaliev, 2013; García-Pedrero et al., 2017; Suresh et al., 2015) claim high automation performance of 80% and higher but it provides little information or none information about the geometric aspects of extracted parcels. The second category including the works of Crommelinck et al. (2017); Luo et al. (2017) and Wassie et al.(2017) attempted to use geometric metric for performance assessment. In these studies, the completeness rate of extracted boundaries ranges between 24 and 65% in the same range as the current study findings. In the same vein with the second category the current study used more rigorous accuracy assessment geometric metrics to provide more suitable vectors data usable for cadastral application. Our method is straightforward to implemented in ArcGIS and quantitative and reproducible and replicable. Therefore, the implication of our study is to instil future researchers to use more rigorous test of automation tool in compliance with cadastral standards.

The second implication of our study derives from the spatial quality of the obtained automation results leading to, potentially, transferability not of the rule set but the approach we used. It was noted, in experimentation with ESP-2 tool, that the rule set might not be transferable instinctively. It is because the rule set includes parameter values that are set to fit a specific context and not the general context. Likely, we believe that our approach is designed in such a way that with small adjustments of the rule parameters depending on the context of the concrete case, is definitely replicable which makes our work highly beneficial for future researchers and other case studies.

Thirdly, from reviewed previous proponent works in the field of automation of cadastral boundaries extraction (as it is also for the current study as limitation) emerge the issue of scalability. In common, many of the inference are made based on simple case studies using smaller tiles of images which do not represent the complexity on the ground. In fact, there is still a huge gap between research problem and real-world problems. Added to that, it was also discussed that using automation in a small area might not be a wise idea. The implication of this is a need to apply automation tool to a large area in simulation to real-world practice than using smaller and subjectively selected area. The future focus suggests to be on fit-for-purpose automation approaches that provide scalable solutions to a real-world problem.

7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

7.1. Reflection to objectives and question

The primary purpose of the study was to apply and compare human by way of manual digitisation versus machine using image analysis algorithms to extracted parcels and buildings from VHR image. In so doing, a group of five lands professional with substantial knowledge in cadastral data mining was tasked to hypothesise and manually digitise boundaries from a pan-sharpened WorldView-2 image, on the one hand. On the other hand, automated extraction of parcels and buildings was performed using rule-based expert systems developed within eCognition. using two sites, one rural the other in urban, the study tested both fully automated approach using ESP-2 and semi-automated approach using own developed rule set for segmentation and extraction of rural parcels and urban plots and buildings. Difference in automation results was apparent with respect to approach used whether fully automated or semi-automated and context be it rural or urban. With regard to approach, the study findings show that fully automated approach is not adaptive to variations of changing contexts as it resulted in highly ragged boundaries. Unlike a fully automated method, the developed rule set within using experts contextual knowledge provided promising results. Regarding the context, obtained automated rural parcels were topologically and geometrically well structured.

The performance evaluation of machine against human applied geometric metrics to determine the error of segmentation, under-segmentation, edge shifting, shape deviation and fragmentation errors. The geometric errors were computed for rural area where results were meaningful. The comparison used very high precision surveyed reference data in the field from which discrepancies were computed using documented geometric comparison framework. Distribution of discrepancies measures indicate comparable responses of machine and human experts in drawing geometries of parcel from images. The correctness and completeness rates of automation was found to be 47.5% and 45% respectively.

In addition to evaluating the performance of machine with mathematical figures, the study elicited experts perspectives on legitimacy of machine to generate cadastral boundaries from imageries. The main point worth noting with respect to legitimacy of automation tool as perceived by experts is the requirement for the tool to be learnable by land professional without necessarily having to use advanced programming skills. Remote sensed data will have to be more accurate. An automation tool will need to have been tested for its robustness to offer accurate results. Eventually, the performance of the tool will determine its acceptability and will make it thrive.

Specifically, the study addressed the underlying objectives and questions as follow:

- I. Identify and apply automated and manual approaches to extract visible cadastral boundaries.
 - What are traditional approaches for image-based cadastral boundaries extraction?
 - What are image analysis algorithms for automatic cadastral boundaries extraction?
 - How to extract cadastral boundaries from imagery manually and automatically?

The traditional image-based demarcation use mainly in (a) field surveying where boundary lines are drawn on paper sheets as they are walked. Back in the office, papers are scanned and then digitised to generate vector data. (b)Alternatively, draftspersons draw hypothetical boundaries from the image and hypothesised boundaries can be validated in the field. Innovative technique by way of image analysis algorithms that could potentially apply for cadastral boundaries extraction includes mainly (c) pixel-based approach using machine (deep) learning and (d)object-based approach which use rule-based expert systems. The latter is a simple form of artificial intelligence that mimics human reasoning and perception in extracting features from image. Our study involved (b) for manual digitisation and (d) for automation of boundaries from image. Out in the field, reference boundaries were walked and mapped using GNSS high precision surveying tools. Manual boundaries digitisation based on extraction guide. Automation combined spectral and geometric information to extract parcels and buildings from image.

- II. To compare the performance of machine against human operators in creating cadastral boundaries based on geometric metrics.
 - How precise is machine algorithm in reproducing geometries and shapes of cadastral features?
 - What are completeness and correctness rates of machine algorithms in extracting cadastral boundaries?

In rural area, the comparison of automated parcel polygons with reference parcel polygons indicates that machine was able to produce topologically and geometrically well-structured parcels. The correctness (precision) and completeness (recall) rates of automation were 47.5% and 45% respectively using 4-meter buffer tolerance. The buffer used related to shifts of 0-4.5 metres between boundaries on the source image and exact boundaries as measured in the field. In urban areas, results were highly unstructured and of little use due to the spectral heterogeneity of features. It was very challenging to separate fences from garden. It was also difficult for machine to trim ground pavements from building roof using spectral information.

- III. To assess professionals' perceived legitimacy of artificial cadastral intelligence exhibited by machine-based image analysis algorithms
 - What are cadastral experts' perceptions towards machine-based approaches regarding their ease of use, cost-effectiveness alignment with professional surveying procedures, rules and regulations in cadastral mapping?

Experts perceive automation as the ultima solution to procedural and expensive land surveying but with its own cost. For that matter automation has to be institutionalised with caution. On the one hand, if it succeeds automation could support fast-track demarcation, registration and issuance of title in a short time and on reduced cost. On the contrary, automation may create inaccurate boundaries difficult for maintaining and causing more burden to landowners who in turn may averse land services. Added to that automation may be confronted with existing procedures abiding survey process. In case it is adopted, there will need to have highly trained staff who will also need to use high-quality data, preferably taken for the purpose of cadastral mapping. Automation tool will have to be learnable by land professional and shall require few manoeuvre. Experts views generally reflect their experience with fit for purpose techniques as Rwanda is renown globally to be among the first countries where image-based demarcation was applied to build a nationwide cadastre system at a low cost.

7.2. Final remark reflecting

In general, the study was able to compare machine and human cadastral intelligence. Despite rigorous methods applied, the study doesn't, however, claim the full-fledged experimentation with automation tools. More studies would be needed using other case studies and using other tools in search of the tool that fit the purpose the best. Such a tool will have to be able to allow achieving an acceptable accuracy while also being more user-friendly and learnable. In this study, automation applied on relatively small areas but could also be scaled up on large areas. With automated cadastral extraction, land registration service coverage can

be taken farther than it is today. As it was elaborated in theoretical framework part, machine is meant to make human more intelligent and increase our performance in production and service delivery. In cadastral field, this will only be captured if human precision is integrated with computational machine power to allow the extraction of many parcels at time. As suggests views of land professionals, this will require various actors including landowners, surveyor and programmer. Some of the requirements in surveying process will have to be suppressed. Surveyor will have to be willing to abandon surveying dogmatism and embrace new smart, innovative, responsive, pro-poor and fit for purpose approaches. The programmer will have to be smart enough to be able to produce robust tool able integrate human intelligence with computational power.

7.3. Limitation of the study

The study, despite it was able to demonstrate the capability of machine alongside humans in extracting parcels from VHR images it was limited on using rule-based expert system within OBIA environment. However, full experimentation of machine intelligence will have to test different approaches. Assessing the ability of deep learning approach would be as important as OBIA approach we have focused on. Also the legitimacy of machine is extracting boundaries from images were limited to experts views. As discussed earlier in section 6.3, one critical concern raised from expert group discussion is the trust of automated boundaries by landowners the actual beneficiaries. An extended study to captures land owners perspectives is worth considering. Finally, in urban area, our study encountered limitation of lacking height information which could potentially improve our results. We believe better results could be found by integrating height with spectral information to extract fences and building geometries.

7.4. Recommendation

In sections 6.2 and 7.3 we highlighted some of the limitations and challenges of the current study calling for further studies.

- (1) Comparison of deep learning algorithms and human in extracting cadastral boundaries. Artificial cadastral intelligence may be displayed through different approaches including state of the art deep learning techniques as a pixel-based approach. Automation in the current study was limited to the use of OBIA. As for recommendation, further investigations could delve into the use of deep learning for automating cadastral boundaries extraction, preferably over the same dataset and performance accuracy assessment method as the current study.
- (2) Integrating height information with spectral information in extracting fences and building geometries in urban area using OBIA. In urban area, material composition for different objects varies. Consequently, spectral reflectance for roof, pavements, garden and fences exhibit variations. This stands a limitation for automation to extract fences that mark building plots and geometries of buildings roof. Next studies could investigate the use of height information together with spectral information in extracting fences and building in OBIA environment.
- (3) Model for multiple parcel polygons comparison. In ArcGIS the model builder tool allows for batch processing in an automated fashion without necessarily having to use programming codes. For ease of computation of geometric performances of automation or manual digitisation, research to develop such a model is worth considering.
- (4) Finally, assessment of landowners' views on legitimacy of automation in generating parcels boundaries. Our study was limited to experts' views, but next researches could be extended to captures landowners' views and to whom the tool will serve. The focus should be put on involving landowners during validation process and capturing their ability to interpret automation results and how they perceive and trust machine algorithms to offer accurate boundaries.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Aksoy, S. and Akçay, H. G. (2005). Multi-resolution segmentation and shape analysis for remote sensing image classification. In *Recent Advances in Space Technologies*, 2005. RAST 2005. Proceedings of 2nd International Conference on (pp. 599–604). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/RAST.2005.1512638
- Al-Kadi, O. S. (2011). Supervised Texture Segmentation: A Comparative Study, 1–5. Retrieved from https://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/1601/1601.00212.pdf
- Ali, Z., Tuladhar, A. and Zevenbergen, J. (2012). An integrated approach for updating cadastral maps in Pakistan using satellite remote sensing data. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 18, 386–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2012.03.008
- Alkaabi, S. and Deravi, F. (2005). A new approach to corner extraction and matching for automated image registration. *International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS)*, 5(2), 3517–3521. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2005.1526604
- Alkan, M. and Marangoz, M. (2009). Creating Cadastral Maps In Rural And Urban Areas of Using High Resolution Satellite Imagery. Applied Geo-Informatics for Society and Environment-Stuttgart University of Applied Sciences, 0–6. Retrieved from
- http://jeodezi.beun.edu.tr/marangoz/files/2013/03/bildiri33.pdf Anderson, G. and Arsenault, N. (2005). *Fundamentals of Educational Research* (revised). Montreal, Canada:
- Routledge. Retrieved from https://books.google.nl/books?id=gyxqxwJ10n4C&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ViewAPI&r edir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Aryaguna, P. A. and Danoedoro, P. (2016). Comparison Effectiveness of Pixel Based Classification and Object-Based Classification Using High-Resolution Image In Floristic Composition Mapping (Study Case: Gunung Tidar Magelang City). https://doi.org/doi:10.1088/1755-1315/47/1/012042 Comparison
- Audebert, N., Le Saux, B. and Lefevre, S. (2016). Semantic Segmentation of Earth Observation Data Using Multimodal and Multi-scale Deep Networks. In *Asian Conference on Computer Vision (ACCV16)*. Taipei: HAL. Retrieved from https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01360166
- Avbelj, J., Muller, R. and Bamler, R. (2015). A Metric for Polygon Comparison and Building Extraction Evaluation. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 12(1), 1–5.
- Ayyub, B. M. (2001). Elicitation of expert opinions for uncertainty and risks. CRC Press.
- Baatz, M. and Shape. (2000). Multiresolution Segmentation : an optimisation approach for high-quality multi-scale image segmentation. *Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 58(3–4), 12–23. https://doi.org/Export Date 6 May 2013
- Babawuro, U. and Beiji, Z. (2012). Satellite Imagery Cadastral Features Extractions using Image Processing Algorithms: A Viable Option for Cadastral Science. *IJCSI International Journal of Computer Science*, 9(4). Retrieved from https://www.ijcsi.org/papers/IJCSI-9-4-2-30-38.pdf
- Balke, F. (2016). "Can thought go on without a body?" On the relationship between machines and organisms in media philosophy †. *Cultural Studies*, *30*(4), 610–629. https://doi.org/10.1080/09502386.2016.1180744
- Barrile, V. and Bilotta, G. (2008). An application of remote sensing: object-oriented analysis of satellite data. *The International Archives of the Photogrammetry*, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 27(B8), 107–114.
- Belgiu, M. and Drågut, L. (2014). Comparing supervised and unsupervised multiresolution segmentation approaches for extracting buildings from very high-resolution imagery. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, *96*, 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2014.07.002
- Bennett, R. (2016). Cadastral Intelligence, Mandated Mobs, and the Rise of the Cadastrobots. FIG Working Week 2016 (Recovery from Disaster No. 8335). Christchurch New Zealand. Retrieved from https://www.fig.net/resources/proceedings/fig_proceedings/fig2016/papers/ts03a/TS03A_bennet t_8335_abs.pdf
- Bennett, R., Asiama, K., Zevenbergen, J. and Juliens, S. (2015). The Intelligent Cadastre. FIG Commission 7/3 Workshop on Crowdsourcing of Land Information. St Juliens, Malta. Retrieved from http://www.itc.nl/library/papers_2015/pres/bennett_int_ppt.pdf
- Bennett, R., Geocloud, Gerke, M., Crompvoets, J., Ho, S., Schwering, A., ... Stöcker, C. (2017). Building

third generation land tools: its4land, smart sketch maps, UAVs, automatic feature extraction, and the geocloud. Retrieved from https://researchbank.swinburne.edu.au/file/489ac436-3974-494c-8b40-285ffcfc6e62/1/2017-bennett-building_third_generation_land_tools.pdf

- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social Science Research: Principles, Methods, and Practices. Textbooks Collection. Book 3. (2nd ed.). Tampa, Florida, USA: University of South Florida Scholar Commons. Retrieved from http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/oa_textbooks
- Blaschke, T. (2010). Object-based image analysis for remote sensing. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 65(1), 2–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2009.06.004
- Blaschke, T., Hay, G. J., Kelly, M., Lang, S., Hofmann, P., Addink, E., ... Tiede, D. (2014). Geographic Object-Based Image Analysis - Towards a new paradigm. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 87, 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2013.09.014

Borman, W. C. and Motowidlo, S. J. (1997). Task Performance and Contextual Performance: The Meaning for Personnel Selection Research. *Human Performance*, 10(2), 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327043hup1002_3

- Brey, P. (2003). Theorizing Modernity and Technology. In T. Misa & P. B. and A. Feenberg (Eds.), Modernity and Technology (pp. 33–71). MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Burkhart, J. Violin Plots (2015). Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DbygbUkLNIM
- Burns, T., Grant, C., Nettle, K., Brits, A. and Dalrymple, K. (2007). Agriculture and Rural Development Discussion Paper 37 Land Administration Reform: Indicators of Success and Future Challenges. Washington. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/rural
- Bush, V. (1945). As we may think. *The Atlantic Monthly, July 1945*. Retrieved from http://worrydream.com/refs/Bush - As We May Think (Life Magazine 9-10-1945).pdf
- Campbell, L., Campbell, B. and Dickinson, D. (1996). *Teaching & amp; learning through multiple intelligences*. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED415009
- Chen, G., Haya, G. and St-Onge, B. (2011). A GEOBIA framework to estimate forest parameters from lidar transects, Quickbird imagery and machine learning: A case study in Quebec, Canada. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observations and Geoinformation*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2011.05.010
- Crommelinck, S., Bennett, R., Gerke, M., Koeva, M. N., Yang, M. Y. and Vosselman, G. (2017). SLIC SUPERPIXELS for OBJECT DELINEATION from UAV DATA. *ISPRS Annals of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, 4(2W3), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprs-annals-IV-2-W3-9-2017
- Crommelinck, S., Bennett, R., Gerke, M., Nex, F., Yang, M. Y. and Vosselman, G. (2016). Review of automatic feature extraction from high-resolution optical sensor data for UAV-based cadastral mapping. *Remote Sensing*, 8(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8080689
- Crommelinck, S., Yang, M. Y., Koeva, M., Gerke, M., Bennett, R. and Vosselman, G. (2017). Towards Automated Cadastral Boundary Delineation from UAV Data. Retrieved from http://arxiv.org/abs/1709.01813
- Cruz-Suarez, A., Prado-Román, A. and Prado-Román, M. (2014). Cognitive legitimacy, resource access, and organizational outcomes. *Revista de Administração de Empresas*, 54(5), 575–584. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-759020140510
- David, S., Craig, M. and Ragu, G. (2015). Demystifying Artificial Intelligence. Retrieved July 18, 2017, from http://www.theatlantic.com/sponsored/deloitte-shifts/demystifying-artificialintelligence/257/
- Deephouse, D. L. and Suchman, M. (2008). *Legitimacy in organizational institutionalism*. Sage. Retrieved from https://www.scribd.com/doc/56594411/Deephouse-and-Suchman-2008-Legitimacy-in-organizational-institutionalism
- Dey, V., Zhang, Y. and Zhong, M. (2010). a Review on Image Segmentation Techniques With Remote Sensing Perspective. ISPRS TC VII Symposium – 100 Years ISPRS, XXXVIII, 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-3203(93)90135-J
- DigitalGlobe. (2010). The Benefits of the Eight Spectral Bands of WorldView-2. Retrieved from https://www.mendeley.com/viewer/?fileId=3cba5e10-2294-f0ab-4fd0-09d53acaeec8&documentId=1aadfa48-b322-3bba-b4d2-b4f80065f778
- Djenaliev, A. (2013). Object-based image analysis for building footprints delineation from satellite images. In Proceedings of the Seventh Central Asia GIS Conference GISCA'13 "Connected Regions: Societies, Economies

and Environments." Al-Farabi KazNU, Almaty: Kyrgyz State University of Construction, Transport and Architecture.

- Dold, J. and Groopman, J. (2017). Geo-spatial Information Science The future of geospatial intelligence The future of geospatial intelligence, 20(2), 5020–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/10095020.2017.1337318
- Donnelly, G. J. Fundamentals of Land Ownership, Land Boundaries, and Surveying (2012). International Committee on Surveying and Mapping. Retrieved from http://www.icsm.gov.au/cadastral/Fundamentals_of_Land_Ownership_Land_Boundaries_and_Su rveying.pdf
- Drăguţ, L., Csillik, O., Eisank, C. and Tiede, D. (2014). Automated parameterisation for multi-scale image segmentation on multiple layers. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 88, 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISPRSJPRS.2013.11.018
- eCognition Developer. (2014). Reference Book Analysis Image | Algorithms | Areas Of Computer Science. München, Germany: Trimble Germany GmbH. Retrieved from
- https://www.scribd.com/document/357725449/Reference-Book-Analysis-Image Enemark, S., Bell, K. C., Lemmen, C. and McLaren, R. (2014). *Fit-For-Purpose Land Administration*. (Stig Enemark, Ed.), *International Federation of Surveyors (FIG)*. Copenhagen, Denmark: International Federation of Surveyors (FIG).
- https://doi.org/https://www.fig.net/resources/publications/figpub/pub60/Figpub60.pdf Estrada, F. J. and Jepson, A. D. (2009). Benchmarking image segmentation algorithms. *International Journal*
- of Computer Vision, 85(2), 167–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11263-009-0251-z
- FGDC. (2008). Geographic Information Framework Data Content Standard Part 1: Cadastral Geographic Information Framework Data Content Standard Part 1: Cadastral Federal Geographic Data Committee. Retrieved from https://www.fgdc.gov/standards/projects/framework-datastandard/GI_FrameworkDataStandard_Part1_Cadastral.pdf
- Franssen, M., Lokhorst, G.-J. and van de Poel, I. (2015). *Philosophy of Technology*. (Edward N. Zalta, Ed.) (Fall 2015). Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University. Retrieved from https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2015/entries/technology/
- Gao, M., Xu, X., Klinger, Y., Van Der Woerd, J. and Tapponnier, P. (2017). High-resolution mapping based on an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) to capture paleoseismic offsets along the Altyn-Tagh fault, China. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 8281. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08119-2
- García-Pedrero, A., Gonzalo-Martín, C. and Lillo-Saavedra, M. (2017). A machine learning approach for agricultural parcel delineation through agglomerative segmentation. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 38(7), 1809–1819. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2016.1278312

George, S. K. (2017). Bernhard Irrgang: Handling technical power: philosophy of technology. Ai & Society, 32(2), 295–298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-015-0611-x

- GLTN. (2015). Valuation valuation of unregistered lands and properties. a new tenure security enhancement approach for developing countries. Retrieved from http://www.gltn.net/index.php/component/jdownloads/send/2-gltn-documents/2243-valuation-of-unregistered-lands-and-properties-brief-eng-2015?option=com_jdownloads
- Goldstein, S. and Naglieri, J. A. (2011). Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development. Springer Science Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9
- González, W. J. (2005). *Science, technology and society : a philosophical perspective*. Netbiblo. Retrieved from https://books.google.nl/books?id=vqd12dUzwQIC&dq=technological+voluntarism&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Grosan, C. and Abraham, A. (2011). Intelligent Systems (Vol. 17). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-21004-4
- Gruen, A. (Armin), Baltsavias, E. P. and Henricsson, O. (1997). Automatic Extraction of Man-Made Objects from Aerial and Space Images (II). (A. Gruen, E. P. Baltsavias and O. Henricsson, Eds.). Basel. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-8906-3
- Gupta, N. and Bhadauria, H. S. (2014). Object based Information Extraction from High Resolution Satellite Imagery using eCognition. *IJCSI International Journal of Computer Science Issues*, *11*(3), 139–144. Retrieved from file:///C:/Users/Jefferson/Downloads/71755beb95626b29efb02e6a102d49f4.pdf
- Hintze, J. L. and Nelson, R. D. (1998). Violin Plots: A Box Plot-Density Trace Synergism. *The American Statistician*, 52(2), 181–184. Retrieved from

http://www.sci.utah.edu/~kpotter/Library/Papers/hintze:1998:VPDT/index.html

Ho, S. and Coumans, F. (2017, March). Improving Land Tenure Security with Low-cost Technologies. *its4land, GIM International.* Retrieved from https://www.gim-

international.com/content/article/improving-land-tenure-security-with-low-cost-technologies

- Hu, T., Yang, J., Li, X. and Gong, P. (2016). Mapping urban land use by using landsat images and open social data. *Remote Sensing*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8020151
- ISO 19107:2003(en), Geographic information Spatial schema. (2003). Retrieved from https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:19107:ed-1:v1:en
- Johnson, C., Dowd, T. J. and Ridgeway, C. L. (2006). Legitimacy as a Social Process. Annual Review of Sociology, 32(1), 53–78. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.32.061604.123101
- Koeva, M., Bennett, R., Gerke, M., Crommelinck, S., Stöcker, C., Crompvoets, J., ... Kundert, K. (2017). Towards innovative geospatial tools for fit-for-purpose land rights mapping. *International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences - ISPRS Archives*, 42(2W7), 37–43. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprs-archives-XLII-2-W7-37-2017
- Koeva, M., Muneza, M., Gevaert, C., Gerke, M. and Nex, F. (2016). Survey Review Using UAVs for map creation and updating. A case study in Rwanda Using UAVs for map creation and updating. A case study in Rwanda. *Survey Review*, 0. https://doi.org/10.1080/00396265.2016.1268756
- Kohli, D., Bennett, R., Lemmen, C., Kwabena, A. and Zevenbergen, J. (2017). A Quantitative Comparison of Completely Visible Cadastral Parcels Using Satellite Images : A Step towards Automation A Quantitative Comparison of Completely Visible Cadastral Parcels Using Satellite Images : A Step towards Automation (8739) Divyani Kohl. In FIG Working Week 2017. Surveying the world of tomorrow From digitalisation to augmented reality. Helsinki, Finland: FIG.
- Kresse, W. and Danko, D. M. (2012). Springer handbook of geographic information. Springer. Retrieved from https://books.google.nl/books?id=sr-LDDGhL3QC&dq=parcel+is+defined+as+a+single+land+area+under+homogeneous&source=g bs_navlinks_s
- Lemmen, C. and Zevenbergen, J. (2014). First experiences with high-resolution imagery-based adjudication approach in ethiopia. Retrieved from https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid:e6f1ef68-0789-47b5-80ef-e4c13fea1bb6/datastream/OBJ

Lemmens, M. (2011). *Geo-information : technologies, applications and the environment*. London, Newyork: Springer and Business Media. Retrieved from https://books.google.nl/books?id=n_tUAWYg4UQC&dq=general+versus+fixed+boundaries&sou rce=gbs_navlinks_s

- Lennartz, S. P. and Congalton, R. G. (2004). Classifying and Mapping Forest Cover Types Using Ikonos Imagery in the Northeastern United States. In ASPRS Annual Conference Proceedings (pp. 1–12). Denver, Colorado. Retrieved from http://www.ecognition.com/sites/default/files/300_asprs_2004_0125.pdf
- Li, H., Jing, L. and Tang, Y. (2017). Assessment of Pansharpening Methods Applied to WorldView-2
- Imagery Fusion. Sensors, 17(1), 89. https://doi.org/10.3390/s17010089
 Li, X. and Shao, G. (2014). Object-based land-cover mapping with high resolution aerial photography at a county scale in midwestern USA. Remote Sensing, 6(11), 11372–11390.
 - https://doi.org/10.3390/rs61111372
- Linn, M. C. and Petersen, A. C. (1985). Emergence and characterization of sex differences in spatial ability: a meta-analysis. *Child Development*, 56(6), 1479–98. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4075870
- Liu, Y., Bian, L., Meng, Y., Wang, H., Zhang, S., Yang, Y., ... Wang, B. (2012). Discrepancy measures for selecting optimal combination of parameter values in object-based image analysis. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 68, 144–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2012.01.007
- Lu, D. and Weng, Q. (2007). A survey of image classification methods and techniques for improving classification performance. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 28(5), 823–870. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160600746456
- Luo, X., Bennett, R., Koeva, M. and Quadros, N. (2016). Cadastral Boundaries from Point Clouds? Retrieved May 23, 2017, from https://www.gim-international.com/content/article/cadastralboundaries-from-point-clouds

- Luo, X., Bennett, R. M., Koeva, M. and Lemmen, C. (2017). Investigating Semi-Automated Cadastral Boundaries Extraction from Airborne Laser Scanned Data. *Land*, 6(3), 60. https://doi.org/10.3390/land6030060
- Ma, L., Li, M., Ma, X., Cheng, L., Du, P. and Liu, Y. (2017). A review of supervised object-based landcover image classification. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 130, 277–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2017.06.001

Maini, R. and Aggarwal, H. (2009). Study and comparison of various image edge detection techniques. International Journal of Image Processing, 3(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/http://www.doaj.org/doaj?func=openurl&genre=article&issn=19852304&date=20 09&volume=3&issue=1&spage=1

- Markard, J., Wirth, S. and Truffer, B. (2016). Institutional dynamics and technology legitimacy–A framework and a case study on biogas technology. *Research Policy*, 45(1), 330–344. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.10.009
- McCarthy, J., Minsk, M. L., Rochester, N. and Shannon, C. E. (1955). A Proposal for The Dartmouth Summer Research Project on Artificial Intelligence. Retrieved August 17, 2017, from http://wwwformal.stanford.edu/jmc/history/dartmouth/dartmouth.html

Mckeown, D. M., Bulwinkle, T., Cochran, S., Harvey, W., Mcglone, C. and Shufelt, J. A. (2000). PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FOR AUTOMATIC FEATURE EXTRACTION. International Archives of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, XXXIII(B2). Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/01fc/0dd65fdc9ba1fac33187cdbedaf0e56c44d7.pdf

Miller, R. L. (Robert L. and Brewer, J. D. (2003). The A-Z of social research : a dictionary of key social science research concepts. Retrieved from http://lynn-

library.libguides.com/researchmethods/researchmethods#s-lg-box-11654486 Möller, M., Birger, J., Gidudu, A. and Gläßer, C. (2013). A framework for the geometric accuracy assessment of classified objects. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, *34*(24), 8685–8698. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2013.845319

Motowidlo, S. J. and Van Scotter, J. R. (1994). Evidence That Task Performance Should Be Distinguished From Contextual Performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(4), 475–480. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Stephan_Motowidlo/publication/232521702_Evidence_That _Task_Performance_Should_Be_Distinguished_From_Contextual_Performance/links/5630da1808 ae506cea6745ac/Evidence-That-Task-Performance-Should-Be-Distinguished-From-Cont

Mumbone, M., Bennet, R., Gerke, M. and Volkmann, W. (2015). Innovations in boundary mapping: namibia, customary lands and UAVS. In *World Bank conference on land and poverty*. Washington: The World Bank. Retrieved from https://www.itc.nl/library/papers_2015/conf/bennett_inn.pdf

- O'Neil-Dunne, J. (2011). Automated Feature Extraction. *LiDAR*, 1(1), 18–22. Retrieved from http://www.lidarmag.com/PDF/LiDAR_Magazine_Vol1No1_Oneil-Dunne.pdf
- O'Neil-Dunne, J., Macfaden, S. and Pelletier, K. C. (2011). Incorporating Contextual Information Into Object-Based Image Analysis Workflows. *ASPRS 2011 Annual Conference*, (1990). Retrieved from http://www.asprs.org/a/publications/proceedings/Milwaukee2011/files/ONEILDUNNE.pdf
- O'Neil-Dunne, J., Pelletier, K., MacFaden, S., Troy, A. and Grove, J. M. (2009). Object-based highresolution land-cover mapping: Operational considerations. In 2009 17th International Conference on Geoinformatics, Geoinformatics 2009 (pp. 1–6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/GEOINFORMATICS.2009.5293435

O'Neil-Dunne, J. and Schuckman, K. (2017). GEOG 883 Syllabus: Remote Sensing Image Analysis and Applications. John A. Dutton e-Education Institute, College of Earth and Mineral Sciences, The Pennsylvania State University. Retrieved from https://www.eeducation.psu.edu/geog883/book/export/html/230

- Oosterom, P. J. M. van. and Zlatanova, S. (2008). Creating spatial information infrastructures : towards the spatial Semantic Web. CRC Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.nl/books?id=dEsXUmh3bfIC&dq=parcel+is+defined+as+a+single+land+ar ea+under+homogeneous&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Payette, J. (2014). Resolving Legitimacy Deficits in Technology Startups through Professional Services Practices. Retrieved from

https://timreview.ca/sites/default/files/article_PDF/Payette_TIMReview_June2014.pdf Perera, A. H. (2011). Expert Knowledge and Its Application in Landscape Ecology. *Ex*, 322. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-1034-8

- Persello, C. and Bruzzone, L. (2010). A Novel Protocol for Accuracy Assessment in Classification of Very High Resolution Images. *Geoscience and Remote Sensing, IEEE Transactions*, 48(3), 1232–1244. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2009.2029570
- Peter-Paul Verbeek. (2005). What Things Do: Philosophical Reflections on Technology, Agency, and Design. (Robert P. Crease, Ed.). University Park, Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania state University Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.nl/books?id=vURh8gy8nPAC&printsec=frontcover#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Pohl, C. and Van Genderen, J. L. (1998). Review article Multisensor image fusion in remote sensing: concepts, methods and applications. International Journal of Remote Sensing (Vol. 19). https://doi.org/10.1080/014311698215748
- Quackenbush, L. J. (2004). A Review of Techniques for Extracting Linear Features from Imagery. *Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing*, 70(12), 1383–1392. https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.70.12.1383
- Radoux, J. and Bogaert, P. (2017). Good Practices for Object-Based Accuracy Assessment. *Remote Sensing*, 9(7), 646. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9070646
- Rijsdijk, M., van Hinsbergh, W. H. M., Witteveen, W., ten Buuren, G. H. M., Schakelaar, G. A., Poppinga, G., ... Ladiges, R. (2013). Unmanned aerial systems in the process of juridical verification of cadastral border. *ISPRS International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, XL-1/W2*, 325–331. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsarchives-XL-1-W2-325-2013
- Rizos, C. (2017). Springer Handbook of Global Navigation Satellite Systems. In P. J. . Teunissen & O. Montenbruck (Eds.), *Computers and electronics in agriculture* (pp. 1011–1037). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-42928-1
- Roberts, P. (2013). Academic Dystopia: Knowledge, Performativity, and Tertiary Education. Review of Education, Pedagogy, and Cultural Studies, 35(1), 27–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/10714413.2013.753757
- Rogers, S., C.Ballantyne and B.Ballantyne. (2017). Empiricial evidence from indigenous lands in Canada.
- Roth, G. and Wittich, C. (1978). Max Weber: Economy and Society. (G. Roth & C. Wittich, Eds.). Berkeley Lofe v Angeles • London: University of California Press. Retrieved from https://archive.org/stream/MaxWeberEconomyAndSociety/MaxWeberEconomyAndSociety_djvu. txt
- Saba, F., Valadanzouj, M. J. and Mokhtarzade, M. (2013). the Optimazation of Multi Resolution Segmentation of Remotely Sensed Data Using Genetic Alghorithm. *International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, XL*(October), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsarchives-XL-1-W3-345-2013
- Sacasas, M. (2015). Humanist Technology Criticism. Retrieved February 12, 2018, from https://thefrailestthing.com/2015/07/09/humanistic-technology-criticism/
- Sahar, L., Muthukumar, S. and French, S. P. (2010). Using aerial imagery and gis in automated building footprint extraction and shape recognition for earthquake risk assessment of urban inventories. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 48(9), 3511–3520. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2010.2047260
- Saito, S. and Aoki, Y. (2015). Building and road detection from large aerial imagery, (March), 94050K. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2083273
- Salehi, B., Zhang, Y., Zhong, M. and Dey, V. (2012). Object-based classification of urban areas using VHR imagery and height points ancillary data. *Remote Sensing*, 4(8), 2256–2276. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs4082256
- Schade, S. (2015). Big Data breaking barriers first steps on a long trail. ISPRS International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, XL-7/W3, 691–697. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsarchives-XL-7-W3-691-2015
- Shi, J. and Malik, J. (2000). Normalized cuts and image segmentation. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis* and Machine Intelligence, 22(8), 888–905. https://doi.org/10.1109/34.868688
- Smith, B. and Varzi, A. C. (1997). Fiat and bona fide Boundaries: Towards an ontology of spatially extended objects. *Philosophy and Phenomenological Research*, 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-63623-4_45
- Smith, B. and Varzi, A. C. (2000). Fiat and Bona Fide Boundaries. *Philosophy and Phenomenological Research*, 60(2), 401–420. https://doi.org/10.2307/2653492
- Smith, C., McGuire, B., Chris, S., Huang, T. and Yang, G. (2006). The History of Artificial Intelligence.

University of Washington. Retrieved from

http://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590/06au/projects/history-ai.pdf

Sonnentag, S. and Frese, M. (2001). Performance Concepts and Performance Theory. In Sabine Sonnentag (Ed.), *Psychological Management of Individual Performance*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Retrieved from http://ebme.uni-

giessen.de/wps/pgn/dl/down/open/ebme_de/e274055c297824370bf0de37b6f365985f5b65fe78df b3cdee5f89b6d74355c09530bc3de18f79d1fe4647f0409e5f81/Performance_concepts_and_Performa nce_Theory.pdf

- Statgraphics. (2018). Centurion 18 Product Details: Powerful statistical software package. Retrieved January 1, 2018, from http://www.statgraphics.com/centurion-xviii
- Stubkjær, E. (2001). Integrating Ontologies : Assessing the use of the Cyc Ontology for Cadastral Applications. *ScanGIS 2001*, 171–184. Retrieved from

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.57.9305&rep=rep1&type=pdf Suchman, M. C. (1995). Managing Legitimacy: Strategic and Institutional Approaches. *Academy of*

- Management Review, 20(3), 571–610. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1995.9508080331 Suddaby, R., Bitektine, A. and Haack, P. (2015). Academy of Management Annals. Academy of Management Annals. Retrieved from https://aom.org/uploadedFiles/Publications/Annals/ANNALS-2015-0101.R3.pdf
- Sun, W., Chen, B. and Messinger, D. W. (2014). Nearest-neighbor diffusion-based pan-sharpening algorithm for spectral images. *Optical Engineering*, 53(1), 13107. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.OE.53.1.013107
- Suresh, S., Merugu, S. and Jain, K. (2015). Land Information Extraction with Boundary Preservation for High Resolution Satellite Image, *120*(7), 39–43.
- Swer, M.-G. (2014). Determining technology: Myopia and dystopia. South African Journal of Philosophy, 33(2), 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/02580136.2014.923696
- Turing, A. M. (1950). Computing Machinery and Intelligence. *Mind*, 49, 433–460. Retrieved from https://www.csee.umbc.edu/courses/471/papers/turing.pdf
- Varzi, A. (2015). Boundary. (E. N. Zalta, Ed.), The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Winter 201). Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University.
- Waelbers, K. (2011). Doing good with technologies : taking responsibility for the social role of emerging technologies. Springer. Retrieved from

https://books.google.nl/books?id=WDgOUd6Q73AC&dq=technology+voluntarism&source=gbs _navlinks_s

- Wassie, Y. A. (2016). *Toward automatic cadastral boundary mapping from satellite imagery*. University of Twente. Retrieved from http://www.itc.nl/library/papers_2016/msc/la/wassie.pdf
- Wassie, Y., Koeva, M. N., Bennett, R. M. and Lemmen, C. H. J. (2017). A procedure for semi-automated cadastral boundary feature extraction from high-resolution satellite imagery. *Journal of Spatial Science*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14498596.2017.1345667
- Williamson, I. P. (1985). Cadastral and land information systems in developing countries. *Australian Surveyor*, *33*(1), 27–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/00050326.1986.10435202

Williamson, I. P. (1997). The justification of cadastral systems in developing countries. *Geomatica*, 51(1), 21–36. Retrieved from

http://trafficlight.bitdefender.com/info?url=http%3A//www.csdila.unimelb.edu.au/publication/misc/anthology/ARTICLE/ARTIC9.HTM&language=en_US

- Williamson, I. P. (2000). Best practices for land administration systems in developing countries. In International conference on land policy reform. Jakarta: The World Bank. Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/352511468258285316/pdf/831800WP0BestP00Box3 79886B00PUBLIC0.pdf
- Windrose. (2017). Evolution of Surveying Techniques Windrose Land Services. Retrieved July 3, 2017, from https://www.windroseservices.com/evolution-surveying-techniques/
- Winner, L. (1997). Technology Today: Utopia Or Dystopia? (Technology And The Rest Of Culture). Social Research, 64(3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.2307/40971195
- Winston, H. P. (1993). *Artificial intelligence* (3rd ed.). Library of congress. Retrieved from https://courses.csail.mit.edu/6.034f/ai3/rest.pdf
- Xianghuan, L., Bennett, R., Koeva, M. and Nathan, Q. (2016, November). Cadastral Boundaries from

Point Clouds? Towards Semi-automated Cadastral Boundary Extraction from ALS Data. GIM International, Geomares Publishing. Retrieved from https://www.gim-

- international.com/content/article/cadastral-boundaries-from-point-clouds
- Xie, S. and Tu, Z. (2015). Holistically-Nested Edge Detection. *Springer*. Retrieved from https://arxiv.org/pdf/1504.06375.pdf
- Yomralioglu, T. and Mclaughlin, J. (2017). Cadastre: Geo-Information Innovations in Land Administration. (T. Yomralioglu & J. McLaughlin, Eds.). New Delhi: Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland, with Capital Publishing Company, New Delhi, India. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51216-7
- Zevenbergen, J. (2004). A Systems Approach to Land Registration and Cadastre. Nordic Journal of Surveying and Real Estate Research, 1. Retrieved from
 - https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/363b/5fa912ef84117eac696abc4e6dbe918fce7f.pdf
- Zevenbergen, J. and Bennett, R. (2015). The visible boundary: more than just a line between coordinates. *GeoTechRwanda*, 1–7.
- Zheng, Y., Wu, J., Wang, A. and Chen, J. (2017). Object- and pixel-based classifications of macroalgae farming area with high spatial resolution imagery. *Geocarto International*, 6049(June), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2017.1333531
- Zhiyong, L., Zhang, P. and Benediktsson, J. A. (2017). Automatic object-oriented, spectral-spatial feature extraction driven by Tobler's first law of geography for very high resolution aerial imagery classification. *Remote Sensing*, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9030285

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Rule set for cadastral boundaries extraction

1. Rural parel extraction

•	01:37.204	Parcel extraction
	0.454	chess board: 5 creating 'New Level'
	05.406	unclassified with image object distance to River (outline) <= 22 Pxl at New Level: Riverstrips
	0.453	Riverstrips at New Level: merge region
-	0.328	with image object distance to Drainage (outline) <= 10 Pxl at New Level: Drainage
-	0.031	Drainage at New Level: merge region
	0.110	unclassified at New Level: merge region
	2 08.156	unclassified at New Level: 10 [shape:0.1 compct:0.5]
	03.781	at New Level: create temp. image layer 'temporary' using 'GLCM Entropy (quick 8/11) R (all dir.)'
-	→ 08.031	unclassified at New Level: 20 [shape:0.4 compct:0.8]
-	0.079	unclassified with Elliptic fit = 0 or Asymmetry > 0.92 at New Level: Ditches
	0.015	unclassified at New Level: merge region
-	• 07.188	unclassified at New Level: 70 [shape:0.5 compct:0.9]
	0.140	unclassified with Shape index < 1.2 and Rectangular fit $>= 0.88$ and Area (including inner polygons) > 300 m ² at New Level: Parcel 1
	0.016	unclassified at New Level: merge region
-	11.531	unclassified at New Level: 70 [shape:0.6 compct::0.8]
-	4 0.141	unclassified with Rectangular fit > 0.9 and Shape index < 1.3 and Area (including inner polygons) >= 200 m ² at New Level: Parcles 2
-	4 <0.001	s Ditches at New Level: unclassified
	0.015	unclassified at New Level: merge region
-	→= 08.141	unclassified at New Level: 35 [shape:0.4 compct:0.8]
-	0.047	unclassified with Rectangular fit >= 0.93 at New Level: Parcels 3
	4 0.156	unclassified with Shape index <= 1.345 and Rectangular fit >= 0.88 and Area (including inner polygons) >= 425 m ⁻ and Border index <= 1.3
	0.016	unclassified at New Level: merge region
1	10.703	unclassified at New Level: 35 [snapeu.5 compct.u.8]
ľ	0.141	unclassified with Rectangular fit > 0.9 and shape index <= 1.35 and Area (including inner polygons) >= 400 m ⁻ at New Level: Parcels 5
1	<0.001	s unclassified at New Level: merge region
	0.218	unclassified with Share index (14 and Krae (netwing incrementations) ~ -260 m ² at New Level Descel 6
	0.005	unclassified with shape index < 1.4 and Area (including inner polygons) >= 500 m at invew Level: Parcels 6
	00.001	s unclassified at New Level, There region unclassified at New Level, Roll (chape) S compet: 0.01
	00.031	unclassified with Rectangular fits >0.0 solutions of the $x = 1.4$ and Area (including inner polygons) $> 300 \text{ m}^2$ at New Level: Parcel 7
	20.001	anciassing and rectangular merce region
	9 07 641	unclassified at New Jevel: 70 [shane:0.6 compct:0.9]
	0.016	unclassified with Rectangular for $z = 0.85$ and Shape index $z = 1.4$ at New Level Parcel 8
	0.015	unclassified at New Level: merge region
	= 06.938	unclassified at New Jevel: 90 [shape:0.5 compct:0.8]
	< 0.001	unclassified with Density >= 1.6 at New Level: Parcels 9
	< 0.001	s Parcel 1, Parcel 4, Parcel 7, Parcel 8, Parcels 3, Parcels 5, Parcels 6, Parcels, Parcels 8, Parcels 9, Parcels 2 at New Level: Parcels
	0.234	Parcels at New Level: opening
	0.235	Parcels with Area (including inner polygons) <= 100 m ² at New Level: unclassified
	0.234	unclassified at New Level: chess board: 1
l	0.391	loop: Parcels at New Level: <- unclassified <not found=""> = 0</not>



Removing river strip and drainage using chessboard segmentation and OSM river shapefile

MRS subsequent segmentation and classification of parcels with geometry indexes values

55555

Boundary smoothing using morphology operator, chessboard and region grow algorithms.

2. Building extraction

Segmentation

- 揖 unclassified with image object distance to OSM Roadset (outline) <= 7 m at New Level: Roadstrips
- Roadstrips at New Level: merge region
- 🔽 unclassified with NDVI > 0.73 or Max. diff. < 2.05 at New Level: Non buildings
- Non buildings at New Level: merge region
- unclassified at New Level: 70 [shape:0.8 compct.:0.9]
- 💺 unclassified with Area (including inner polygons) > 150 m² at New Level: Buildings

3. Fences (building plots boundaries) extraction

🗹 Auto nar	me edge ratio split B [0-255	+5] :30-> [creating 'New Level', unclassified,Fence]	The small the tile, the more precision
Setting		Value	
Conditio	on		
Map		From Parent	
 Algorit 	thm parameters		
⊿ Set	tings		
Che	ssboard Tile Size	30	
Leve	el Name	New Level	
Ove	erwrite existing level	Yes	
Mini	imum threshold	0	
Max	kimum threshold	255 <	We kept as default
Step	o size	5	1
Step	oping type	add	
Imag	ge layer	В	the Blue layer Pansharpened image
Clas	ss for bright objects	unclassified	
Clas	ss for dark objects	Fence	
⊿ Adv	vanced Settings		
Con	trast mode	edge ratio	
Exe	cute splitting	Yes	
Vari	able for best threshold		
Vari	iable for best contrast		
Mini	imum relative area dark	0.1	
Mini	imum relative area bright	0.1	
Mini	imum contrast	0	
Mini	imum object size	1	
✓ Loops	& cycles		
Loop w	hile something changes only	Yes	The values were kept as default
Number	r of cycles	1	
-			



Appendix ii: Assigning UPI to reference parcels and extracted parcels

Appendix iii: Comparison of extracted parcels to reference parcels

Mach	Machine -reference									
ID	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr	ID	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr	
1	0.113	0.188	0.048	0	71	0.028	0.121	0.014	0	
2	0.393	0.019	0.010	0.175	72	0.092	0.130	0.048	0	
6	0.108	0.048	0.002	0	73	0.087	0.139	0.023	0	
7	0.191	0.134	0.006	0.144	74	0.010	0.193	0.007	0.175	
9	0.127	0.122	0.054	0	75	0.082	0.132	0.001	0	
12	0.173	0.166	0.020	0	76	0.024	0.130	0.046	0	
14	0.019	0.211	0.064	0	77	0.220	0.001	0.030	0	
15	0.413	0.305	0.023	0.215	78	0.191	0.023	0.034	0	
16	0.110	0.291	0.003	0.127	79	0	0.341	0.003	0.097	
17	0.362	0.151	0.027	0.126	80	0.187	0.388	0.140	0.087	
18	0.034	0.074	0.001	0	81	0.207	0.356	0.024	0.142	
20	0	0.124	0.018	0	82	0.610	0.181	0.065	0.319	
21	0.280	0.410	0.020	0.242	83	0.430	0.270	0.001	0.207	
22	0.023	0.206	0.002	0	84	0.301	0.054	0.013	0.131	
23	0.210	0.290	0.004	0.106	85	0.127	0.145	0.061	0.113	
24	0.205	0.018	0.037	0.071	8/	0.239	0.239	0.007	0.121	
25 27	0.124	0.064	0.017	0	00 00	0.139	0.191	0.016	0 1 20	
21	0.237	0.349	0.007	0.230	09	0.001	0.419	0.080	0.160	
20 20	0.200	0.033	0.000	0	90 01	0.070	0.116	0.004	0.001	
29 30	0.030	0.129	0.040	0.030	03	0.152	0.093	0.009	0.091	
32	0.050	0.038	0.017	0.178	93	0.100	0.105	0.020	0.415	
33	0.062	0.197	0.014	0.056	98	0.124	0.152	0.106	0.415	
34	0.058	0.300	0.042	0.050	99	0.124	0.132	0.007	0 1 2 2	
43	0.114	0.018	0.042	0	100	0.298	0.382	0.014	0.122	
44	0.043	0.096	0.012	0	100	0.114	0.129	0.006	0.271	
45	0.135	0.028	0.008	0	101	0.111	0.12)	0.000	0	
46	0.121	0.134	0.078	Ő						
47	0.154	0.213	0.078	Õ						
48	0.127	0.080	0.014	0						
49	0.051	0.176	0.076	0						
50	0.351	0.026	0.078	0.201						
51	0.295	0.074	0.016	0.127						
54	0.225	0.229	0.001	0.305						
55	0.175	0.261	0.024	0.195						
57	0.063	0.005	0.011	0						
59	0.115	0.165	0.010	0						
61	0.029	0.132	0.039	0						
63	0.061	0.205	0.047	0.146						
64	0.159	0.270	0.012	0.115						
65	0.137	0.176	0.041	0						
66	0.103	0.090	0.041	0						
67	0.071	0.115	0.010	0						
68	0.137	0.093	0.023	0						
70	0.060	0.091	0.015	0						
/1	0.028	0.121	0.014	0						
12	0.092	0.130	0.048	0						
-										
Expe	rt A-refere	nce								
ID 1	OS 0.1.17	US	SH.err	ED.err	ID	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr	
1	0.147	0.124	0.001	0	60	0.094	0.213	0.047	0	
2	0.199	0.068	0.001	0	61	0.062	0.102	0.039	0	
5	0.070	0.070	0.001	0	62	0.087	0.166	0.002	0	
07	0.114	0.066	0.01/	0 1 1 7	63	0.1/6	0.218	0.001	0	
/	0.134	0.189	0.026	0.117	64	0.224	0.101	0.006	0	
9 10	0.104	0.104	0.008	0	05	0.088	0.121	0.000	0	
10	0.150	0.138	0.000	0 272	00 67	0.104	0.121	0.007	0	
12	0.170	0.509	0.222	0.272	68	0.007	0.124	0.001	0	
12	0.109	0.237	0.014	0.101	60	0.142	0.141	0.017	0	
14	0.119	0 1 9 4	0.004	Ő	70	0.142	0.000	0.003	0	
15	0.203	0.274	0.003	0.089	70	0.107	0.070	0.007	õ	
-		~				··• · ·	0.010		-	

16	0.102	0.234	0.007	0.026	73	0.053	0.103	0.009
17	0.105	0.134	0.009	0	74	0.089	0.104	0.024
18	0.094	0.092	0.031	0	75	0.071	0.079	0.013
19	0.093	0.099	0.004	0	76	0.105	0.072	0.003
20	0.112	0.126	0.006	0	77	0.150	0.091	0.011
21	0.169	0.215	0.022	0	78	0.019	0.145	0.014
22	0.157	0.161	0.000	0	79	0.207	0.024	0.007
23	0.157	0.096	0.011	0	80	0.048	0.123	0.006
24	0.159	0.101	0.020	0	81	0.082	0.089	0.011
25	0.189	0.103	0.009	0	82	0.042	0.121	0.009
27	0.162	0.258	0.014	0.023	83	0.048	0.154	0.009
28	0.077	0.159	0.004	0	84	0.094	0.177	0.009
29	0.055	0.086	0.069	0.014	87	0.235	0.240	0.005
30	0.141	0.182	0.062	0	89	0.190	0.166	0.008
32	0.086	0.106	0.034	0	90	0.134	0.106	0.002
33	0.067	0.154	0.046	0	92	0.102	0.137	0.019
34	0.066	0.231	0.003	0.024	93	0.113	0.077	0.009
43	0.157	0.003	0.009	0	94	0.066	0.138	0.050
44	0.063	0.041	0.007	0	95	0.139	0.232	0.050
45	0.121	0.015	0.006	0	97	0.198	0.062	0.042
46	0.050	0.099	0.046	0	98	0.073	0.524	0.057
47	0.154	0.160	0.048	0	101	0.141	0.130	0.004
48	0.132	0.072	0.007	0				
49	0.139	0.213	0.059	0				
50	0.115	0.075	0.024	0				
51	0.177	0.103	7E-05	0				
53	0.119	0.215	0.023	0.264				
54	0.143	0.102	0.001	0.037				
55	0.176	0.142	0.010	0				
57	0.130	0.096	0.007	0				
58	0.032	0.247	0.007	0				
59	0.058	0.179	0.032	0				

Expert B-reference

ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err	ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err
1	0.134	0.144	0.002	0	61	0.054	0.107 0.055		0
2	0.230	0.023	0.003	0	62	0.137	0.137 0.192 0.002		0.050
5	0.076	0.089	0.001	0	63	0.183	0.212	0.002	0
6	0.148	0.042	0.031	0	64	0.184	0.174	0.008	0
7	0.122	0.184	0.004	0	65	0.050	0.154	0.001	0
8	0.143	0.169	0.024	0	66	0.104	0.126	0.001	0
9	0.110	0.143	0.010	0	67	0.040	0.109	0.005	0
12	0.137	0.212	0.020	0	68	0.163	0.150	0.010	0
13	0.199	0.102	0.011	0	69	0.016	0.071	0.000	0
14	0.117	0.230	0.008	0	70	0.109	0.017	0.034	0
15	0.196	0.214	0.003	0	71	0.074	0.030	0.026	0
16	0.089	0.224	0.008	0	72	0.051	0.033	0.037	0
18	0.055	0.137	0.057	0	73	0.064	0.048	0.014	0
20	0.079	0.161	0.015	0	74	0.003	0.097	0.000	0
21	0.160	0.154	0.024	0	75	0.064	0.065	0.003	0
22	0.130	0.139	0.003	0	76	0.067	0.089	0.001	0
24	0.066	0.120	0.003	0	77	0.078	0.085	0.001	0
27	0.129	0.208	0.021	0	78	0.159	0.059	0.002	0
28	0.086	0.101	0.010	0	79	0.103	0.121	0.006	0
29	0.057	0.073	0.078	0	80	0.046	0.150	0.006	0
30	0.091	0.199	0.039	0	81	0.077	0.102	0.009	0
32	0.124	0.080	0.003	0	82	0.051	0.105	2.3E-05	0
33	0.037	0.104	0.045	0	83	0.080	0.126	0.009	0
34	0.080	0.251	0.043	0	84	0.080	0.187	0.012	0.019
41	0.076	0.032	0.024	0	85	0.133	0.047	0.058	0
42	0	0.089	0.009	0	87	0.179	0.239	0.004	0
43	0.097	0.011	0.005	0	88	0.152	0.179	0.004	0
44	0.060	0.007	0.007	0	89	0.149	0.209	0.032	0
45	0.068	0.034	0.007	0	90	0.098	0.117	0.018	0
46	0.084	0.074	0.050	0	92	0.121	0.153	0.004	0
47	0.074	0.182	0.028	0	93	0.149	0.083	0.000	0
48	0.080	0.051	0.002	0	94	0.088	0.037	0.019	0

49 50 51	0.177 0.157 0.232	0.165 0.057 0.104	0.053 0.012 0.003	0 0 0.122	98 101		0.049 0.185	0.671 0.143	0.076 0.012	0.457 0
52 53	0.132	0.107	0.007	0						
55 54	0.183	0.092	6E-06	0.108						
55	0.143	0.196	0.007	0.101						
56	0.267	0.124	0.011	0.014						
57	0.080	0.053	3.1E-05	0						
58	0.079	0.103	0.030	0						
59	0.071	0.165	0.012	0						
60	0.058	0.261	0.047	0						
Expe	rt C-referen	ce								
ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err		ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err
1	0.163	0.499	0.086	0.430		69	0.05	1 0.06	50 0.023	0.000
2	0.176	0.050	0.005	0.000		70 71	0.098	3 0.00	0.002	0.000
6	0.118	0.072	0.010	0.000		72	0.14	5 0.04	4 0.037	0.000
7	0.171	0.205	0.014	0.129		73	0.03	5 0.00 5 0.00	63 0.010	0.000
9	0.094	0.186	0.005	0.000		74	0.01	1 0.13	0.000	0.000
10	0.174	0.145	0.063	0.000		75	0.063	3 0.10	0.000	0.000
11	0.189	0.326	0.251	0.298		76	0.08	0.00	64 0.007	0.000
12	0.143	0.197	0.007	0.000		77	0.09	7 0.05	0.003	0.000
13	0.162	0.109	0.012	0.000		80	0.062	2 0.07	0.001	0.000
14 15	0.105	0.188	0.078	0.000		83	0.050	5 0.07	3 0.002	0.000
16	0.124	0.290	0.002	0.129		84	0.08	$0.14 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.13 \\ 0.14 \\ $	5 0.000	0.000
18	0.081	0.092	0.005	0.000		85	0.11	0.07	6 0.043	0.000
19	0.083	0.100	0.001	0.000		87	0.16	0.24	9 0.004	0.175
20	0.104	0.117	0.013	0.000		88	0.17	0.21	1 0.001	0.030
21	0.211	0.294	0.005	0.000		89	0.16	8 0.16	69 0.010	0.000
22	0.168	0.188	0.003	0.011		90	0.13	0.07	0.025	0.000
24	0.105	0.109	0.002	0.000		92	0.06		0.004	0.000
25 27	0.171	0.072	0.003	0.000		93	0.11.	0.07	2 0.012 4 0.032	0.000
28	0.070	0.190	0.003	0.010		98	0.08	0.1	34 0.070	0.397
29	0.018	0.062	0.000	0.000		101	0.15	5 0.14	7 0.002	0.037
30	0.113	0.187	0.017	0.000						
32	0.087	0.082	0.009	0.000						
33	0.025	0.136	0.042	0.000						
34	0.081	0.181	0.001	0.000						
41 42	0.014	0.037	0.015	0.000						
44	0.102	0.016	0.003	0.000						
45	0.081	0.047	0.010	0.000						
49	0.198	0.158	0.013	0.000						
51	0.236	0.157	0.003	0.083						
52	0.199	0.141	0	0.000						
53 E4	0.189	0.112	0.011	0.000						
54 55	0.148	0.114	0.009	0.000						
56	0.225	0.131	0.013	0.000						
57	0.073	0.076	0.014	0.000						
58	0.122	0.214	0.026	0.000						
59	0.087	0.214	0.006	0.000						
60	0.077	0.245	0.035	0.000						
61	0.087	0.139	0.047	0.000						
64 67	0.184 0.139	0.123	0.009	0.000						
Б	. 1 . 6									
Expe	rt d -referen	ice								
ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err	ID		OS	US	SH err	ED err
1	0.128	0.154	0.003	0	58 50		0.044	0.186	0.021	0
2 5	0.063	0.054	0.008	0	59 60		0.009	0.202	0.010	0
~				~	~~			~		~
61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

87

88

89

90

92

94

95

97

98

99

101

58

59

60

61

ID

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

87

88

89

92

93

0.059

0.098

0.200

0.154

0.054

0.112

0.060

0.114

0.037

0.094

0.078

0.050

0.060

0.054

0.086

0.084

0.065

0.058

0.051

0.053

0.095

0.050

0.048

0.117

0.134

0.191

0.161

0.165

0.111

0.088

0.066

0.116

0.157

0.081

0.162

0.143

0.044

0.069

0.073

0.059

OS

0.161

0.126

0.047

0.107

0.076

0.055

0.052

0.029

0.092

0.074

0.111

0.031

0.027

0.065

0.097

0.029

0.051

0.097

0.066

0.178

0.174

0.175

0.124

0.098

0.126

0.196

0.167

0.129

0.118

0.112

0.104

0.167

0.069

0.013

0.045

0.054

0.059

0.087

0.056

0.074

0.089

0.131

0.095

0.119

0.077

0.096

0.135

0.161

0.073

0.243

0.221

0.158

0.135

0.162

0.136

0.191

0.050

0.496

0.899

0.146

0.186

0.159

0.202

0.126

US

0.109

0.140

0.076

0.021

0.076

0.062

0.057

0.113

0.092

0.079

0.014

0.178

0.062

0.103

0.061

0.110

0.146

0.145

0.108

0.217

0.200

0.177

0.171

0.098

0.039

0.000

0.000

0.004

0.002

0.001

0.003

0.012

0.018

0.006

0.004

0.044

0.004

0.002

0.001

0.007

0.006

0.003

0.003

0.006

0.004

0.007

0.001

0.004

0.043

0.007

0.003

0.015

0.006

0.005

0.051

0.026

0.009

0.084

0.006

0.000

0.021

0.016

0.039

0.039

SHerr

0.026

0.016

0.002

0.020

0.013

0.033

0.000

0.012

0.010

0.002

0.030

0.010

0.001

0.012

0.009

0.008

0.017

0.019

0.019

0.007

0.011

0.028

0.015

0.009

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

EDerr

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6

0.012

0.399

0.505

0.166

0.020

0.028

THE BATTLE OF CADASTRAL INTELLIGENCE:

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.110

0.275

0.119

0.086

0.110

0.016

0.010

0.067

EDerr

0.082

0.143

0.068

0.269

0.040

0.070

0.100

0.146

0.097

0.182

0.160

0.137

0.160

0.145

0.229

0.132

0.011

0.079

0.105

0.131

0.221

0.154

0.101

0.174

0.154

0.072

0.017

0.133

0.079

0.028

0.063

0.048

0.061

0.059

0.085

0.149

0.040

0.225

0.156

0.203

0.163

0.140

0.144

0.120

0.234

0.052

Expert E -reference

0.130

0.190

0.081

0.114

0.155

0.113

0.191

0.233

0.121

0.179

0.147

0.221

0.113

0.100

0.118

0.132

0.207

0.135

0.124

0.184

0.154

0.116

0.030

0.092

OS

6

7

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

24

25

27

28

29

30

32

33

34

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

ID

1

2

5

6

7

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

18

19

20

21

22

24

25

27

28

29

30

0.063

0.180

0.154

0.149

0.304

0.203

0.073

0.216

0.275

0.242

0.479

0.086

0.098

0.151

0.250

0.197

0.122

0.086

0.294

0.156

0.084

0.206

0.069

0.120

0.159

0.006

0.000

0.016

0.052

0.176

0.063

0.139

0.057

0.099

0.075

0.209

0.098

0.201

0.098

0.059

US

0.110

0.087

0.074

0.071

0.171

0.116

0.202

0.315

0.227

0.106

0.196

0.291

0.243

0.109

0.114

0.144

0.263

0.165

0.099

0.083

0.305

0.127

0.060

0.201

0.017

0.010

0.003

0.049

0.219

0.014

0.000

0.060

0.017

0.000

0.115

0.014

0.000

0.005

0.010

0.005

0.002

0.004

0.010

0.009

0.021

0.045

0.009

0.032

0.030

0.004

0.007

0.008

0.051

0.035

0.013

0.014

0.009

0.009

0.001

0.003

0.006

0.010

0.017

0.003

SHerr

0.013

0.022

0.009

0.001

0.016

0.004

0.037

0.233

0.007

0.006

0.112

0.019

0.002

0.015

0.005

0.023

0.052

0.019

0.021

0.002

0.022

0.002

0.008

0.021

32	0.122	0.078	0.010	0	94	0.093	0.169	0.057	0
33	0.047	0.115	0.033	0	95	0.124	0.194	0.021	0
34	0.056	0.237	0.053	0	96	0.095	0.155	0.010	0
44	0.070	0.009	0.006	0	97	0.207	0.066	0.015	0
45	0.103	0.029	0.006	0	98	0.146	0.531	0.080	0.420
50	0.145	0.054	0.030	0	99	0.126	0.641	0.063	0
51	0.251	0.113	0.005	0.123	101	0.178	0.193	0.003	0
52	0.160	0.151	0.002	0	67	0.161	0.109	0.026	0
54	0.151	0.094	0.010	0	68	0.126	0.140	0.016	0
55	0.145	0.192	0.006	0.101	69	0.047	0.076	0.002	0
56	0.238	0.114	0.015	0	70	0.107	0.021	0.020	0
5/	0.123	0.051	0.019	0	/1	0.076	0.076	0.013	0
58	0.056	0.230	0.013	0	72	0.055	0.062	0.033	0
59	0.060	0.231	0.021	0	/3	0.052	0.05/	0.000	0
60	0.077	0.220	0.045	0	74	0.029	0.115	0.012	0
62	0.040	0.098	0.031	0	73	0.092	0.092	0.010	0
62	0.080	0.195	0.005	0	/0	0.074	0.079	0.002	0
64	0.198	0.200	0.002	0	//	0.111	0.014	0.030	0
65	0.192	0.198	0.023	0					
66	0.077	0.137	0.037	0					
00	0.115	0.114	0.002	0					
Maah	ino ovnort								
Mach	me-expert	A				~~~		0.1.1	
ID	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr	ID 5.4	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr
1	0.028	0.135	0.046	0	54	0.120	0.165	0.003	0.515
2	0.341	0.085	0.012	0.153	55	0.063	0.194	0.035	0
3	0.149	0.084	0.007	0	5/	0.126	0.107	0.019	0
3	0.147	0.042	0.014	0 320	59	0.109	0.036	0.042	0
4	0.020	0.370	0.024	0.520	63	0.021	0.060	0.000	0 641
4	0.074	0.072	0.004	0	64	0.092	0.169	0.048	0.041
7	0.075	0.002	0.014	0	65	0.086	0.208	0.018	0
9	0.127	0.040	0.045	0	66	0.120	0.091	0.033	0
10	0.021	0.452	0.260	0.030	67	0.075	0.091	0.033	0
12	0.118	0.031	0.006	0	68	0.081	0.037	0.004	Ő
13	0.047	0.570	0.100	Ő	70	0.004	0.173	0.018	Ő
14	0.014	0.134	0.014	Õ	71	0.023	0.151	0.006	0.000
15	0.231	0.001	0.019	0.142	73	0.148	0.152	0.033	0.119
16	0.017	0.082	0.003	0	74	0.064	0.225	0.031	0.209
17	0.276	0.005	0.017	0.118	75	0.080	0.123	0.011	0
18	0.066	0.107	0.033	0	76	0.005	0.145	0.042	0
20	0.094	0.193	0.011	0	77	0.168	0.004	0.018	0
21	0.121	0.238	0.001	0.124	78	0.287	0.011	0.048	0.225
22	0.015	0.196	0.002	0.078	79	0	0.465	0.010	0.264
23	0.066	0.217	0.006	0.100	80	0.193	0.340	0.146	0.100
24	0.155	0.024	0.017	0	81	0.209	0.353	0.013	0.152
25	0.047	0.079	0.026	0	82	0.591	0.063	0.055	0.348
26	0.076	0.182	0.079	0	83	0.369	0.091	0.007	0.140
27	0.088	0.122	0.021	0	84 97	0.556	0.012	0.022	0.904
20 20	0.209	0.032	0.004	0.094	0/	0.074	0.007	0.001	0
29 30	0.043	0.100	0.022	0.044	80	0.008	0.075	0.011	0 944
32	0.007	0.027	0.020	0.112	90	0.027	0.727 0.101	0.007	0.771
33	0.079	0.132	0.035	Ő	93	0.078	0.054	0.011	0
34	0.107	0.194	0.038	Ő	94	0.026	0.122	0.011	Ő
35	0.073	0.004	0.007	Õ	98	0.486	0.031	0.164	0.109
41	0.013	0.016	0.004	0	101	0.036	0.064	0.010	0
43	0.043	0.104	0.032	0					
44	0.016	0.092	0.006	0					
45	0.071	0.068	0.014	0					
46	0.079	0.043	0.031	0					
47	0.043	0.104	0.030	0					
48	0.152	0.165	0.022	0					
49	0.051	0.099	0.016	0					
50	0.334	0.043	0.102	0.184					
51	0.186	0.019	0.016	0					
52	0.498	0.574	0.088	0.061					

53	0.065	0.480	0.165	0					
Mach	nine exper	t B							
ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err	ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err
1	0.037	0.110	0.045	0	57	0.058	0.028	0.029	0
2	0.303	0.113	0.014	0	59	0.095	0.050	0.080	0
3	0.114	0.055	0.027	0	61	0.029	0.080	0.036	0
3	0.136	0.020	0.011	0	63	0.078	0.191	0.039	0.016
4	0.045	0.071	0.009	0	64	0.031	0.169	0.002	0
6	0.021	0.070	0.179	0	65	0.141	0.080	0.005	0
7	0.149	0.020	0.004	0	66	0.124	0.090	0.005	0.013
9	0.069	0.028	0.127	0	67	0.096	0.072	0	0
10	0.178	0.067	0.061	0	68	0.077	0.045	0.000	0
12	0.102	0.007	0.021	0	70	0.047	0.165	0.028	0.027
13	0.021	0.578	0.036	0.080	71	0.005	0.140	0.022	0.798
14	0.037	0.113	0.125	0	72	0.116	0.169	0.040	0
15	0.240	0.080	0.220	0.157	73	0.081	0.148	0.031	0
16	0.054	0.115	0.020	0	74	0.053	0.148	0.023	0
17	0.623	0.022	0.017	0.120	75	0.053	0.105	0.073	0
18	0.107	0.063	0.164	0	76	0.013	0.099	0.026	õ
20	0.113	0.147	0.092	Õ	77	0.232	0.009	0.027	Õ
21	0.132	0.294	0.032	0.137	78	0.131	0.062	0.050	õ
22	0.014	0.191	0.140	0	79	0	0.328	0.132	0.118
24	0.238	0.001	0.035	0	80	0 207	0.330	0.056	0.132
26	0.077	0.004	0.004	0	81	0.207	0.345	0.008	0.171
27	0.102	0.158	0.110	0	82	0.567	0.035	0.029	0.357
28	0.198	0.150	0.013	0	83	0.357	0.033	0.023	0.129
20	0.031	0.010	0.067	0	84	0.349	0.004	0.005	0.129
30	0.031	0.105	0.007	0	85	0.052	0.156	0.001	0.240
32	0.020	0.200	0.091	0	87	0.052	0.130	0.105	0.101
32	0.003	0.055	0.050	0	89	0.028	0.017	0.010	0
33	0.093	0.100	0.011	0	80	0.028	0.037	0.023	0 204
35	0.118	0.194	0.017	0	00	0.080	0.068	0.104	0.204
33 41	0.070	0.010	0.009	0	90	0.044	0.008	0.018	0
41	0.010	0.300	0.133	0	93	0.103	0.111	0.030	0
45	0.065	0.075	0.040	0	94	0.004	0.215	0.013	0
44	0.009	0.115	0.036	0	93	0.001	0.020	0.022	0 200
45	0.085	0.005	0.088	0	98	0.644	0.002	0.009	0.300
40	0.044	0.069	0.122	0	99	0.858	0.018	0.004	0.386
4/	0.089	0.043	0.068	0	101	0.047	0.109	0.007	0.702
48	0.156	0.137	0.047	0					
49	0.046	0.185	0.085	0					
50	0.300	0.060	0.023	0.110					
51	0.131	0.020	0.022	0					
52	0	0.562	0.033	0					
53	0.109	0.493	0.146	0					
54	0.071	0.169	0.002	0.085					
55	0.054	0.097	0.061	0					
56	0.095	0.538	0.029	0					
Mach	nine exper	t C							
ID	OS -	US	SHerr	ED err	ID	OS	US	SH err	ED err
1	0.436	0.138	0.038	0.187	63	0.636	0.063	0.153	0.130
2	0.331	0.063	0.005	0.153	64	0.016	0.205	0.002	0
3	0.561	0.060	0.150	0	67	0.059	0.152	0.035	Ő
3	0.169	0.037	0.003	0.199	68	0.555	0.021	0.088	0 144
4	0.057	0.073	0.010	0	70	0.018	0.139	0.017	0
6	0.061	0.075	0.017	ŏ	71	0.000	0 1 9 1	0.051	Ő
7	0.117	0.002	0.004	õ	72	0.121	0 194	0.076	0.256
ģ	0.130	0.017	0.004	0	73	0.095	0.127	0.013	0.250
12	0.130	0.027	0.049	0	74	0.075	0.122	0.015	0.005
14	0.000	0.009	0.013	0	75	0.009	0.137	0.007	0.177
14	0.010	0.12/	0.014	0.114	76	0.100	0.114	0.001	0
15	0.223	0.012	0.020	0.114	70	0.000	0.141	0.030	0
10 17	0.023	0.034	0.000	0 1 1 9	78	0.101	0.001	0.020	0 010
1/	0.015	0.039	0.130	0.110	70 80	0.007	0.100	0.040	0.212
20	0.070	0.099	0.003	0	80 81	0.144	0.330	0.141	0.098
20	0.075	0.1/0	0.004	0	01	0.201	0.337	0.022	0.158

21	0.123	0.196	0.026	0.099	83	0.369	0.102	0.001
22	0.033	0.195	0.001	0.091	84	0.329	0.038	0.034
24	0.204	0.011	0.035	0	85	0.054	0.118	0.018
25	0.032	0.077	0.013	0	87	0.115	0.009	0.002
26	0.069	0.184	0.076	0	88	0.041	0.062	0.017
27	0.103	0.132	0.008	0	89	0.069	0.423	0.097
28	0.286	0.012	0.002	0.109	90	0.011	0.112	0.021
29	0.056	0.107	0.046	0.052	93	0.074	0.055	0.008
30	0.014	0.233	0.037	0.059	94	0.036	0.109	0.006
32	0.133	0.014	0.004	0	95	0.052	0.042	0.049
33	0.096	0.128	0.031	0.020	98	0.446	0.053	0.176
34	0.069	0.224	0.040	0.023	99	0.860	0.008	0.009
35	0.052	0.008	0.010	0	101	0.049	0.075	0.008
43	0.752	0.004	0.068	0.173				
44	0.002	0.140	0.006	0				
45	0.082	0.005	0.018	0				
46	0.611	0.074	0.040	0.121				
49	0.031	0.198	0.089	0				
51	0.166	0.007	0.019	0				
53	0.085	0.585	0.178	0.152				
54	0.100	0.139	0.007	0.022				
55	0.069	0.084	0.013	0				
57	0.079	0.019	0.025	0				
59	0.126	0.043	0.017	0				
61	0.040	0.090	0.008	0				

Machine-expert D

ID	os	US	SHerr	FD err	ID	OS	US	SHerr	FD err
1	0.066	0120	0.044		64	0.019	0.173	0.016	
2	0.314	0.020	0.044	0137	65	0.118	0.097	0.030	0
3	0.147	0.095	0.014	0.157	66	0.110	0.107	0.040	0.010
3	0.128	0.059	0.005	0	67	0.084	0.085	0.040	0.010
4	0.071	0.066	0.003	0	68	0.126	0.024	0.010	0
6	0.074	0.050	0.014	0	70	0.034	0.143	0.022	0
7	0.122	0.021	0.004	0	70	0.033	0.155	0.018	0
ģ	0.095	0.029	0.051	0	72	0.146	0.178	0.093	0 239
12	0.105	0.022	0.006	Ő	73	0.105	0.156	0.028	0.117
14	0.032	0.151	0.004	Ő	74	0.056	0.204	0.009	0.202
15	0.223	0.022	0.005	0.130	75	0.058	0.138	0.000	0.202
16	0.024	0.11	0.002	0	76	0.001	0.120	0.038	õ
17	0.610	0.015	0.143	0.126	77	0.239	0.000	0.036	Õ
18	0.057	0.090	0.016	0	78	0.242	0.007	0.038	Õ
20	0.114	0.205	0.012	Õ	79	0.000	0.309	0.000	0.019
21	0.085	0.221	0.010	0.113	80	0.183	0.339	0.146	0.102
22	0.028	0.168	0.007	0.072	81	0.197	0.361	0.019	0.150
24	0.212	0.003	0.035	0	82	0.588	0.088	0.073	0.331
25	0.051	0.083	0.012	0	83	0.391	0.142	0.000	0.144
26	0.083	0.012	0.150	0	84	0.307	0.013	0.018	0.160
27	0.114	0.094	0.003	0	85	0.037	0.120	0.018	0.000
28	0.259	0.017	0.009	0.086	86	0.067	0.227	0.014	0
29	0.058	0.088	0.024	0.013	87	0.068	0.003	0.000	0
30	0.018	0.235	0.064	0.092	88	0.042	0.030	0.012	0
32	0.125	0.011	0.004	0	89	0.041	0.412	0.070	0.000
33	0.087	0.138	0.021	0.007	90	0.033	0.052	0.002	0
34	0.063	0.224	0.011	0.008	93	0.080	0.073	0.015	0
35	0.066	0.010	0.003	0	94	0.024	0.122	0.012	0
41	0.001	0.023	0.003	0	95	0.040	0.778	0.026	0
43	0.104	0.049	0.038	0	98	0.463	0.052	0.191	0.101
44	0.011	0.123	0.006	0	99	0.860	0.056	0.000	0.384
45	0.100	0.032	0.016	0	101	0.055	0.068	0.006	0
46	0.046	0.092	0.026	0					
47	0.026	0.065	0.043	0					
48	0.155	0.087	0.001	0					
49	0.005	0.222	0.090	0					
50	0.279	0.031	0.088	0.064					
51	0.158	0.021	0.026	0					
54	0.091	0.142	0.004	0.049					

 $\begin{array}{c} 0.137\\ 0.221\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0.126\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0.097\\ 0.403\\ 0\\ \end{array}$

55	0.067	0.079	0.014	0
57	0.084	0.021	0.015	0
59	0.084	0.043	0.026	0
61	0.031	0.066	0.000	0
63	0.035	0.215	0.048	0.013

Machine-expert E

ID	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr	ID	OS	US	SHerr	EDerr
1	0.012	0.116	0.035	0	64	0.029	0.150	0.011	0
2	0.332	0.043	0.011	0.161	65	0.096	0.077	0.003	0
3	0.136	0.106	0.037	0	66	0.104	0.092	0.038	0.005
3	0.132	0.024	0.006	0	67	0.075	0.171	0.036	0
4	0.028	0.140	0.011	0	68	0.084	0.022	0.006	0
6	0.085	0.068	0.004	0	70	0.021	0.137	0.035	0
7	0.106	0.024	0.009	0	71	0.042	0.133	0.000	0
9	0.058	0.050	0.050	0	72	0.153	0.182	0.082	0.271
10	0.029	0.437	0.236	0.047	73	0.095	0.142	0.023	0
12	0.164	0.041	0.028	0	74	0.078	0.178	0.019	0.179
14	0.008	0.154	0.048	0.003	75	0.081	0.131	0.011	0
15	0.231	0.000	0.003	0.126	76	0.015	0.118	0.049	0
16	0.011	0.077	0.000	0	77	0.135	0.001	0.000	0
18	0.083	0.112	0.017	0	78	0.299	0.002	0.024	0
20	0.083	0.186	0.005	0	79	0.000	0.317	0.005	0.062
21	0.099	0.205	0.031	0.110	80	0.175	0.352	0.127	0.096
22	0.020	0.176	0.021	0.020	81	0.171	0.353	0.033	0.153
24	0.192	0.030	0.016	0	82	0.592	0.064	0.074	0.347
25	0.039	0.087	0.019	0	83	0.358	0.086	0.015	0.135
26	0.081	0.005	0.025	0	84	0.308	0.010	0.033	0.208
27	0.095	0.059	0.015	0	85	0.114	0.092	0.042	0.037
28	0.208	0.033	0.002	0.024	86	0.112	0.019	0.000	0
29	0.038	0.103	0.038	0.018	87	0.098	0.053	0.000	0
30	0.013	0.200	0.041	0.111	88	0.014	0.044	0.005	0
32	0.114	0.035	0.003	0	89	0.052	0.412	0.057	0.159
33	0.077	0.150	0.022	0	93	0.119	0.059	0.011	0
34	0.077	0.151	0.011	0	94	0.047	0.135	0.018	0
35	0.082	0.011	0.004	0	98	0.477	0.079	0.187	0.101
41	0.012	0.031	0.003	0	99	0.509	0.026	0.056	0.121
43	0.600	0.002	0.005	0.166	101	0.114	0.113	0.003	0.023
44	0.009	0.122	0.007	0					
45	0.047	0.011	0.015	0					
46	0.849	0.041	0.574	0.130					
50	0.299	0.047	0.108	0.180					
51	0.115	0.018	0.022	0					
54	0.094	0.155	0.012	0.140					
55	0.062	0.110	0.017	0					
56	0.102	0.528	0.001	0					
57	0.064	0.082	0.030	0					
59	0.143	0.012	0.031	0					
61	0.025	0.079	0.007	0					
63	0.073	0.213	0.049	0.007					

Appendix iv: Manual Cadastral Boundaries Extraction Guide for cadastral experts Introduction

This exercise consists on interpreting the image with an eye-brain system by experts to reconstruct, digitise cadastral structures. As experts, you will apply the cadastral intelligence and visual interpretation cues: scene knowledge, tone, texture, pattern, shape, size, location, association to delineate parcels, buildings and roads. One of the attributes (description) will allow describing applied knowledge. Kindly, read this extraction guide and complete the exercise.

Extraction guide

This extraction guide aims to provide a clear and precise description of cadastral objects to be delineated, requirements on input data/information, description of objects appearance on the image, delineation criteria and digitisation rules.

Input data	For this exercise, you will use the pan-sharpened image of the ortho-rectified, 2m- resolution multispectral and 0.5m-resolution panchromatic WorldView-2 satellite image. You will hypothesise and apply your expert knowledge to digitise cadastral boundaries for the two sites: Nyamugali site for a typical rural setting and Kibagabaga as a sample for the built-up area.					
digitisation	• You will use the geodatabase file provided by the facilitator (with ITRF-2005 coordinates system) and name the feature dataset in your name as below:					
	 Expert_Digitisation.gdb Expert_name Buildings Parcels You will need to fill in the attribute table especially the description column to justify 					
	applied knowledge to delineate t	eatures				
	Field Name	Data Type				
	OBJECTID	Object ID Geometry				
	Label	Text				
	Description	Text				
	SHAPE_Length	Double				
	SHAPE_Area	Double				
Object class (1):	Parcels					
Definition	A cadastral parcel is a single area	a of Earth surface, under homogeneous real property				
	rights and unique ownership.					
Appearance	• Farmland parcels appear some order. Mostly parcels delimited	e green and bared soil colour when displayed in BGR by visible narrow ditches.				
	• In the built up area, parcels ar	e bounded by fences and roads in regular pattern,				
	and they contain buildings.					
	 In the built up area, parcels are bounded by fences and roads in regular pattern and they contain buildings. (a) 					

Identifying	• Farmland parcels (a): ditches, watercourse
features	• Urban parcels: fences around buildings
Extraction	• Delineate the perimeter of the visible extent of the parcel
	• Use polygon data type
	• For urban parcel include any associated structure even when it qualifies for separate extraction such as building (Parcel can contain buildings)
	• Make sure you fill in the column description in the attribute table
Object class (2):	Buildings
Definition	A walled and roofed structure designed for residential use by people, or other use
Appearance	Buildings are seen from above based on their shape, hip and valley roof in tiles or
	iron sheets
Identifying	Roof design and shape and colour, fence
features	
Extraction	• Delineate the perimeter of the visible extent of the building, i.e. digitise building footprint
	• Do not remove indents or protrusions
	• Use polygon data type
	• Consider any associate structure that qualifies for separate extraction
	• Make sure you fill in the column description in the attribute table
Object class (3):	Roads or streets
Definition	Roads are open ways for the passage people and vehicle, person or animals. These
	refer to streets in a built-up area with buildings on one side or both sides
Appearance	Roads have a well-defined width (8-16m), and straight edges, arranged in a regular
	pattern, a feature of the planned built up area.
Identifying	Fence of parcels on one side or both sides, elongated open spaces between building
features	blocks
Extraction	• Delineate the edges line of the extent of visible roads
	• Use ITRF-2005 coordinates system
	• Make sure you fill in the column description in the attribute table

Appendix v: Focus group discussion guide

Introduction

This discussion is part of the study that aims to measure the results of competition between humans and machine in creating and extracting cadastral boundaries leading to a thesis to be submitted to the Faculty of Geo-information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Master of Science in Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation aims to capture experts' perspectives on the legitimacy of machine-based image analysis algorithms to extract parcels and buildings usable in cadastre. Your acceptance of participation is duly acknowledged, and your views will be treated in complete anonymity and confidentiality and used merely for the academic purpose stated hereinabove.

Themes of discussion

- 1. Automation and ease of use, comprehensibility
- 2. Automation and alignment to existing survey practices
- 3. Automation and self-calculated interests

i. Automation and ease of use, comprehensibility

- a. Have ever thought of automation in cadastral boundaries extraction?
- b. Have you ever heard of it?
- c. Have you ever used some algorithm to automate cadastral boundaries delineation? How easy was it?
- d. How do you think it will revive your work?
- e. How easy do you see or think it is?
- f. What do you think are required skills? Do you feel ready for it if your institutions decide to introduce it?
- g. What do you think will be challenges for its implementation regarding to skills, ease of use?
- h. What are advantages?

ii. Automation and alignment to existing survey practices

- a. What are existing survey procedures
- b. Can we discuss challenges and opportunities for automation vis a vis outlined procedures?
- c. Where do you find the application and usefulness of automation could be useful to land administration community?

iii. Automation and expert interest

- a. What are benefits of being chartered surveyors?
- b. Can you estimate monthly income from surveying services?
- c. How do you think automation will enable you to earn more money than before?
- d. What do you think automation could bring as obstructions to your values as land surveyors?

Appendix vi: Cadastral Survey Form (Trasnlated From Kinyarwanda By Author)

Date: //20					
Names of landowners and ID number	Location of the land				
•	District:				
•	Sector:				
•	Cell :				
•	Village :				
•					
UPI :	Requested service ¹¹ :				
Current use :	-Subdivision				
Planned use:	-First registration				
The area in words and figures:	-Rectification of boundaries				
Lease/title ID no (for registered land):	-Building permit (auto-batir)				
Demarcation process ¹²					
• Equipment used:					
1. Type of GNSS rover:					
2. Serial No:					
3. Rwanda Geonet User-ID:					
• Access to CORS:					
1. Network					
2. Single phase Mountpoint:					
• Accuracy in (Cm): Cm					
• Date (year-month-day):					
Energy design month day).					
• From (nours-minutes-seconds) to (nours-minutes-	seconds)				
• Challenges accounted in the field:					
Number of skildren marsels :					
A rea of each shildren parcels :					
Area of each children parcei.					
Summer abcompation of 13					
Surveyor observations:					
• What exists on land					
Mode of acquisition					

¹¹ Select accordingly; Multiple answers are allowed
¹² Annex extra page for more explanation if required
¹³ Add extra page or write on the back page for additional information

- Reason for subdivision if intended service is subdivision¹⁴:
- If the client (landowner) is requesting boundaries rectification provides all neighbouring parcels IDs and consents of respective owners whose parcels area will be affected:
- If the client, intends to apply for registering the parcel he/she should explain why the land is not yet registered:
- Provide information about existing liens, mortgage and disputes on land (ford mortgaged land provide the name of lender/bank):
- Report challenge accounted during fieldwork¹⁵:

UPI, names, ID numbers, telephone number and signatures of landowners who whose land share boundaries with surveyed land:

Declaration: I, the surveyor, hereby declare that I have effected fieldwork and surveyed the land in accordance with survey procedures, ethics and rules and that any incorrect measurement, upon request by authorities for adjustment, will incur my own cost.

SIGNING THE SURVEY REPORT

Owners of the land	Land surveyors
(names, signatures and telephone number)	(names, signatures and telephone number)

Name and signature and stamp of the executive secretary of the cell

¹⁴ Selling shares, donating a portion of the land, or parcels developments

¹⁵ In relation to surveyed land, neighbouring parcels and, reported by local authorities any other one having interests on that land.